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KEY FIGURES

EUR Million	 01/01/ – 06/30/2009	 01/01/ – 06/30/2008

Consolidated revenues	 2,361.2	 2,627.8

Earnings before interest, taxes,  
depreciation and amortization (EBITDA)	 -16.0	 45.2

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)	 -114.7	 -19.3

Consolidated net loss (after minorities)	 -115.4	 -36.3

Free cash flow	 -66.0	 79.8

Earnings per share (diluted) in EUR	 -4.37	 -1.37 
	

	 06/30/2009	 12/31/2008

Balance sheet total	 1,397.6	 1,719.0

Shareholders’ equity	 155.5	 263.7

Equity ratio in %	 11.1	 15.3
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Highlights

•	 ARQUES has reduced its financial debt by around 30% since the end of 2008 

•	 Second-quarter EBITDA of EUR -2.3 million represents a significant improvement over the first quarter 

•	 Earnings were weighed down by impairments from portfolio streamlining measures 

•	 The balance sheet structure was substantially improved in Q3 after the sales of Actebis and tiscon 

•	 Uncertain outlook, early signs of economic recovery 

WKN 		 515600

ISIN	 DE0005156004

Stock market code	 AQU

Reuters Xetra code	 AQUG.DE

Bloomberg Xetra code	 AQU GY

Stock type	 No-par bearer shares

Share indexes	 SDAX, CDAX, Classic All Share, Prime All Share

Shares in issue as of June 30, 2009	 26,450,000

Capital stock as of June 30, 2009 in EUR	 26,450,000

Share price as of June 30, 2009 in EUR	 1.67

52-week high* in EUR	 10.05

52-week low* in EUR	 0.91

Earnings per share (diluted) (01/01/2009 – 06/30/2009) in EUR	 -4.37

*at the time of the report

Information on the ARQUES share
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The ARQUES Industries AG  
business model 

The ARQUES Group focuses on a specific segment of the equity 

investment market - namely, the acquisition of companies in sit-

uations of transition. Examples include classic turnaround can-

didates and subsidiaries on corporations’ disinvestment lists, 

which are often in need of measures to improve efficiency. More 

than 80% of the acquired subsidiaries are corporate spin-offs. 

Generally, these companies have already been generating losses 

for some time when they are acquired by ARQUES. Unsuccess-

ful attempts have been made in some cases to restructure the 

companies or restore them to economic health. In accordance 

with the ARQUES Model, such companies are generally pur-

chased for less than their book value - in some cases even for 

symbolic or negative purchase prices - and sold again within 

three to five years after being restructured by ARQUES.

Over the past three years, the size of the acquired companies 

has grown significantly. In some cases, ARQUES purchased 

investments in companies with annual revenues considerably 

exceeding EUR 500 million. Contrary to the original business 

strategy, ARQUES also paid purchase prices that were higher 

- in some cases, much higher - than symbolic prices, in addition 

to assuming additional financial risks. In view of the currently 

difficult economic conditions, ARQUES is once again focusing 

exclusively on business acquisitions for which such financial 

risks can be largely excluded and for which the purchase prices 

are not as relevant.  

The ARQUES business model 
versus private equity
One major distinction from the targets of private equity compa-

nies is that ARQUES primarily takes over companies in situations 

of transition which often have weak earnings and are in need of 

restructuring. ARQUES restructures these newly acquired sub-

sidiaries with its own restructuring department, known as the 

Task Force, whereby the specialized experts of the ARQUES 

Task Force seek to solve the specific operating and/or structural 

problems of the respective subsidiaries in order to restore them 

to profitability and place them back on the market as operation-

ally strengthened and competitive businesses.

In contrast, the private equity industry focuses less on reorgani-

zation or restructuring than on optimizing profits in the compa-

nies they take over by applying financial engineering and cost-

cutting techniques before making a profitable short-term exit. 

The market for corporate acquisitions
The market for company acquisitions under the ARQUES model 

will remain relatively stable also in the future, because corpo-

rations will spin-off subgroups and families will sell their busi-

nesses - ARQUES’ acquisition targets - regardless of the eco-

nomic conditions prevailing at any given time. 

The factors supporting these trends include:  

•	 Corporations focusing on their core lines of business;

•	 The funding crisis faced by many small and mid-sized com-

panies as a result of banks’ unwillingness to extend credit 

(Basel II);

•	 The growing number of unresolved succession issues as a 

result of demographic trends in Germany;

•	 The currently difficult economic environment as a result of 

the financial crisis;

•	 Lack of access to the capital market

Nevertheless, competition in this market has intensified insofar 

as new competitors in Europe are interested in the types of com-

panies which ARQUES also seeks to acquire.  

The market for company sales
The market for company sales, which is driven by the demand 

for successfully restructured companies with boosted earnings, 

fluctuates and generally depends on the economic environ-

ment and the prosperity of the industry in question. As a rule, 

ARQUES will always be able to find parties interested in restruc-

tured companies from the respective industry in the form of stra-

tegic investors. On the one hand, this is because ARQUES does 

not need to sell its subsidiaries at the theoretical highest price 

due to the fact that it will have paid a fairly low purchase price 

Consolidated Management Report 
of ARQUES Industries AG
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for those companies in most cases. Consequently, ARQUES 

is in a position to sell its subsidiaries at prices that will enable 

the buyer to achieve further value enhancement potential. As 

a general rule, ARQUES begins the selling process as soon as 

the subsidiary enters into a profitable growth phase. Thus, the 

company in question is appealing to a wide range of buyers who 

can realize further earnings and growth potential building on the 

successes achieved by ARQUES through its restructuring activi-

ties. ARQUES also has recourse to the possibility of so-called 

secondary transactions. In such cases, it may be advisable to 

sell individual subsidiaries to another financial investor before 

restructuring is completed either for strategic reasons or for 

reasons having to do with the reallocation of assets. 

The ARQUES model under 
varying economic conditions
In principle, the ARQUES business model works in both weak 

and strong market environments. In a weak market environ-

ment, more companies tend to get into serious difficulties and 

more large corporations seek to divest peripheral activities as 

they refocus on their core business. Consequently, there tend 

to be more companies in the market for turnaround candidates 

than in more prosperous times. In a weak market environ-

ment, however, the purchase process is fraught with particular 

dangers, because already during the sales process the acqui-

sition candidates are generally exposed to greater operational 

risks that are not always predictable and are usually negative. 

Therefore, particular care needs to be taken in this regard. Fur-

thermore, the restructuring process is generally much more dif-

ficult and time-consuming amid a poor economic environment. 

Also, it is more difficult to locate or maintain external financ-

ing sources. In a weak economic environment, the process of 

selling the successfully restructured subsidiaries is much more 

difficult. In such an economic environment, the valuation mul-

tiples of companies, on which the sales prices which ARQUES 

can demand are based, tend to be much lower across the 

board in every industry. Furthermore, the general economic 

environment or the company’s specific situation could pos-

sibly make it necessary to resell the acquired companies at 

symbolic or even negative prices if ARQUES’ risks would be 

reduced by such a sale. 

In a healthy environment, on the other hand, fewer companies 

tend to become crisis-stricken and it is easier to paper over 

weaknesses. There are nevertheless enough companies in tran-

sitional situations on the market on account of major structural 

changes in the world economy, the tendency of large corpora-

tions to focus on their core businesses and the generally difficult 

financial situation of small to mid-sized enterprises. The restruc-

turing process itself can be carried out more easily and quickly 

in a period of economic expansion, with external factors boost-

ing the companies’ revenues in particular. This makes it possible 

to complete a successful restructuring more quickly and boosts 

the demand for restructured companies that afford additional 

value enhancement potential to the buyers in accordance with 

the ARQUES business model. In good economic times, both 

strategic investors and financial investors can be considered as 

possible buyers. Moreover, depending on the size and industry 

of the company in question, even the capital market can be used 

as an exit channel.

The sale price depends on the current state of the economic 

environment, which directly influences the valuation multiples 

that can be achieved. Because the ARQUES business model is 

geared to the strategy of acquiring companies at favorable pur-

chase prices, the company is not compelled to sell them at the 

highest possible price in order to realize a profitable exit even in 

times of lower valuations.

Acquisition process
In selecting its acquisition targets, ARQUES does not concen-

trate on specific industries, but rather on small to mid-sized 

companies with annual revenues of EUR 30 million to EUR 1 

billion. ARQUES is actively approached by large corporations 

as a potential partner in spinning off subsidiaries which are 

no longer part of their core business. The average size of the 

acquired companies has increased significantly in the last few 

years. In the future, ARQUES will focus on acquisitions for which 

the financial and other risks are as low as possible.
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Restructuring
After completing the acquisition, ARQUES generally installs 

managers with restructuring experience in the new subsidiary 

(ARQUES Subsidiary Manager) in order to carry out the reorga-

nization together with the staff of the acquired company in the 

shortest possible time. In the first few months, our subsidiary 

managers are given intensive support from the ARQUES Task 

Force, a group of highly specialized restructuring experts from 

all important areas of business. 

After a subsidiary has been successfully restructured, a new 

management team trained and deployed by the ARQUES sub-

sidiary manager continues to further develop operations with the 

goal of achieving sustainable profitability. In the currently diffi-

cult economic situation, which has been particularly hard on the 

manufacturing industries, it will be necessary to conduct addi-

tional restructuring steps. Because the operating activities of the 

ARQUES subsidiaries are the responsibility of the management 

of the respective companies, the managing directors of those 

companies are responsible for initiating and implementing such 

measures. However, the ARQUES Executive Board is always 

informed of such decisions and conducts very close monitoring 

of the Group’s subsidiaries.

The managing director appointed by ARQUES generally takes a 

5% to 10% stake in the subsidiary, usually by assuming a cor-

responding portion of the actual purchase price. This arrange-

ment causes the managing director to identify strongly with “his” 

company, which helps to secure a high level of motivation. It 

also ensures that the managing director will pursue the same 

interests as those of ARQUES, as the principal shareholder.

Exits
The Acquisitions and Exits departments have merged to form the 

ARQUES M&A department. This ensures that the purchase deci-

sion reflects the experiences and requirements associated with 

a successful sale at the end of the holding period. Furthermore, 

the respective company-specific knowledge acquired during 

the acquisition phase can also be applied during the selling 

process. As soon as the basic reorganization steps have been 

completed and the subsidiary enters into a profitable growth 

phase, ARQUES’ M&A department begins the process of selling 

the company in coordination with the subsidiary manager. The 

subsidiary manager increasingly withdraws from the operational 

business and transfers management to a successor, who is sup-

posed to also remain in the business after the sale. 

Value-based management
The ARQUES Group is managed on the basis of a value-based, 

two-phase model. Phase one concentrates on stabilizing the 

liquidity situation of the new acquisitions in need of restructur-

ing. The key performance indicator in this respect is the com-

pany’s operational cash flow. Effects serving to boost liquidity 

are achieved in the first phase, which can last up to one year, 

by means of agreements with the creditors, employees, suppli-

ers, and customers of the newly acquired companies. The prof-

itability of the acquired companies is improved in phase two. 

Management uses EBIT (Earnings Before Interest and Taxes) to 

monitor the progress of the measures implemented to achieve 

this objective. The organization of the ARQUES Group, includ-

ing the subsidiary managers, guarantees an uncomplicated, 

direct form of checks and balances in the companies. The sub-

sidiary manager also holds a direct stake in the subsequent 

sales proceeds and will therefore be motivated to bring about 

such a sale.  

General economic conditions 
and industry environment 

Glimmers of hope for the world economy 
In their latest forecasts, the International Monetary Fund (IMF) 

and the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Devel-

opment (OECD) agree that the global recession will approach 

bottom in the second half of this year. Nonetheless, the OECD 

anticipates that global gross domestic product will contract 

4.1% for the full year 2009. The U.S. economy can be expected 

to shrink 2.8%. Nations like Japan (-6.8%) and Germany (-6.1%) 

that are especially dependent on exports will suffer the brunt of 

the downturn in world trade. According to the IMF, the overall 

euro zone will experience a 4.8% decline in its economic output 

in 2009. Glimmers of hope for the world economy can be found 

in the Chinese economy, which, although it has been impacted 

by the global economic downturn, can nonetheless be expected 

to experience dynamic growth of 7.5% in 2009 as a result of 

that country’s extensive economic stimulus programs. India is 

likewise expected to see strong economic growth of 5.4% in 

2009. In general, nearly all emerging economies are expected to 

witness very robust growth, with the exception of Eastern Euro-

pean countries. 
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However, all economic experts are warning that the developing 

stabilization of the world economy is still fragile. Although the 

financial sector is under control for now, the real economy is 

threatened by further, unquantifiable writedowns on loans. The 

volume of lending activity, which is vital for any global recovery, 

remains at a very low level. Of the loans that are being made to 

the real economy, many of them are being issued with very high 

risk premiums, although the central banks have reduced their 

key interest rates to all-time lows. 

Sharp decline in equity 
investment business 
In view of the weak economic data and the very cautious 

lending policies of banks, equity investment firms are antici-

pating a sharp decline in their business for 2009. According to 

the German National Association of Equity Investment Firms 

(Bundesverband Deutscher Kapitalbeteiligungsgesellschaften 

e.V., BVK), private equity investments in Germany in the first 

quarter of 2009 plummeted 75% from the comparable year-

ago period, falling to the level of about€300 million. The man-

agement buy-out sector has been especially affected by this 

trend. Although many equity investment firms still have sufficient 

equity capital, it has become practically impossible to raise the 

necessary debt to finance larger-scale transactions, due to the 

restrictive lending policies of banks. As for the remainder of 

the year, the BVK does not anticipate a comprehensive market 

recovery, although the willingness to make investments showed 

a gradual improvement in the second quarter. With regard to 

the near-term developments, this assessment is shared by the 

European Private Equity & Venture Capital Association (EVCA). 

According to a survey conducted in cooperation with Deloitte 

Touche Tohmatsu, about half of the 700 venture capital provid-

ers surveyed stated their intention to invest significantly less 

than planned in the near-term future. In view of the sharply lower 

prices for companies and the still pressing need of many com-

panies to focus on their core activities, however, the long-term 

outlook for the industry is still very positive.

Net Assets, financial 
position and earnings 

After a difficult fiscal year in 2008, the first half of 2009 was again 

dominated by continued portfolio streamlining and by the per-

sistently poor economic conditions in the Group’s continuing 

operations. 

ARQUES divested eight subsidiaries in the first half of 2009. At 

June 30, 2009, the ARQUES portfolio comprised 13 subsidiar-

ies, of which the Actebis Group and the tiscon Group are attrib-

uted to the discontinued IT Division and must therefore be pre-

sented separately. Among the group of continuing operations, 

the Gigaset Group in the Communications Division is by far the 

most important subsidiary.

At EUR 2,361.2 million, the revenues generated in the first half 

of 2009 were 10% less than the corresponding year-ago figure 

of EUR 2,627.8 million. 

The EBITDA was negative, in the amount of EUR -16.0 million, 

as compared to EUR 45.2 million in the first half of 2008. This 

decline was mainly caused by the restructuring expenses for 

Gigaset in the amount of EUR -23.5 million. 

The depreciation and amortization amounted to EUR 46.4 

million, a large part of which attributable to the Actebis and 

Gigaset Groups. The impairments amounted to EUR 52.2 

million, most of which for the Actebis Group (EUR 36.5 million), 

the tiscon Group (EUR 1.6 million) and the Gigaset Group 

(EUR 12.0 million). At Actebis and tiscon, the impairments of 

goodwill and of the revalued net assets were necessitated 

by knowledge of expected sale prices for those groups. The 

impairments at Gigaset were associated with the sale of the 

Broadband Division. 
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Assets
At June 30, 2009, the total assets of the ARQUES Group 

amounted to EUR 1,397.6 million, that being EUR 321.5 million 

less than the total assets at December 31, 2008.   

The non-current assets declined by EUR 160.3 million to EUR 

315.8 million. Non-current assets in the amount of EUR 42.4 

million were classified as held-for-sale and therefore presented 

separately. These items mainly consist of the intangible assets, 

property, plant and equipment of the Actebis Group and the 

tiscon Group.

The current assets amounted to EUR 1,081.8 million, including 

EUR 504.1 million in assets held for sale.  

At June 30, 2009, the total liabilities amounted to EUR 1,242.1 

million, that being EUR 213.3 million less than the corresponding 

figure at December 31, 2008 (EUR 1,455.3 million). 

Current liabilities accounted for 86% of total liabilities. The 

current financial liabilities were reduced by EUR 61.7 million 

in the first half of 2009. Of this amount, EUR 32.6 million related 

to the current financial liabilities of the Actebis Group and the 

tiscon Group, which were classified as held-for-sale and there-

fore presented separately.

At June 30, 2009, the equity of ARQUES amounted to EUR 

155.5 million, as compared to EUR 263.7 million at December 

31, 2008. 

Financial position
In the first half of 2009, ARQUES generated a negative cash 

flow from operating activities in the amount of EUR -42.5 

million (H1 2008: positive cash flow of EUR 97.8 million). The 

operating cash flow for 2009 was weighed down mainly by the 

restructuring expenses for Gigaset. In 2008, there had been a 

positive non-recurring effect in the form of cash received from 

the introduction of factoring at Actebis (EUR 40.7 million).  

The cash flow from investing activities amounted to EUR -

23.5 million. This amount was mainly influenced by various non-

recurring effects from portfolio changes, as well as the lower 

amount of investments in non-current assets. 

Thus, the free cash flow came to EUR -66.0 million, as com-

pared to EUR 79.8 million in the first half of last year. 

The cash flow from financing activities amounted to EUR 19.0 

million (H1 2008: EUR -10.3 million). This cash outflow reflected 

the redemption of financial liabilities, after adjustment for decon-

solidation effects. 

Earnings
Revenues of EUR 2,361.2 million were generated in the 

ARQUES Group in the first half of 2009, that being EUR 266.6 

million less than the corresponding figure for the first half of last 

year. Aside from the tough conditions in many sales markets 

and industries, the decline also resulted from the changes 

made to the group of consolidated companies. With revenues 

that were 7.5% lower than the year-ago figure, the discontin-

ued IT Division was still the main revenue contributor in the first 

half, accounting for about 74% of the Group’s total revenues. 

The second-biggest Communications Division accounted for 

about 11% of total revenues. 

The other operating income amounted to EUR 61.5 million in 

the first half of 2009, that being on the same level as the cor-

responding year-ago figure. Besides income from deconsoli-

dations in the amount of EUR 4.9 million and income from the 

reversal of negative goodwill (so-called bargain purchases) in 

the amount of EUR 9.7 million, the other operating income was 

mainly composed of income from the waiver of receivables, 

income from the sale of non-current assets, income from the 

reversal of provisions, rental income and income from exchange 

rate changes.

The cost of purchased raw materials, merchandise, finished 

goods and purchased services amounted to EUR 1,980.6 

million in the first half of 2009, that being 12% less than the 

corresponding year-ago figure of EUR 2,251.5 million. Because 

revenues declined by a somewhat smaller margin, the percent-

age of revenues represented by purchased goods and services 

declined from 86% to 84%. 

The personnel expenses (wages, salaries, social security and 

pension benefits) amounted to EUR 243.1 million in the first half 

of 2009, that being only slightly higher than the corresponding 

year-ago figure of EUR 229.7 million. 
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The other operating expenses, which comprise general admin-

istrative expenses, facility management expenses, shipping 

costs, consulting and marketing expenses, general operating 

expenses and value adjustments on receivables, amounted to 

EUR 220.4 million in the first half of 2009, that being significantly 

higher than the corresponding year-ago figure. This increase was 

mainly due to changes in the group of consolidated companies. 

The other operating expenses contain non-recurring effects of 

EUR -12.0 million related to the deconsolidation of companies in 

connection with the portfolio streamlining measures.

In the first half of 2009, the net financial expenses of EUR -17.2 

million were EUR 2.5 million less than the corresponding figure 

for the first half of 2008. 

The consolidated net loss after minority interests amounted 

to EUR -115.4 million, as compared to EUR -36.3 million in 

the prior-year period. The earnings per share (basic/ diluted) 

amounted to EUR -4.37.

Significant events in the 
first half of 2009

Changes in the Executive Board
In a meeting held on February 2, 2009, the Supervisory Board 

of ARQUES Industries AG and Dr. Michael Schumann mutually 

agreed to cancel Dr. Schumann’s appointment as Chairman of 

the Executive Board of ARQUES Industries AG effective Febru-

ary 28, 2009. In the same meeting, Hans Gisbert Ulmke was 

appointed Chief Financial Officer by the Supervisory Board 

effective February 3, 2009 for the duration of three years. In 

the Supervisory Board meeting held on July 20, 2009, Michael 

Hütten was appointed to the Executive Board, effective July 21, 

2009. At the Supervisory Board meeting of August 4, 2009, Hans 

Gisbert Ulmke was appointed Chairman of the Executive Board 

and the Executive Board divisions were reorganized as follows:

Hans Gisbert Ulmke, Executive Board Chairman, Finance, 

Human Resources, Legal, Press, Investor Relations

Felix Frohn-Bernau, Acquisitions and Exits

Michael Hütten, Operations, Subsidiary Controlling

Bernd Schell, Gigaset Communications

Changes in the portfolio of subsidiaries
As a result of the strained economic situation in Spain, the crisis 

in the automotive industry, and the restrictive lending of Spanish 

banks, ARQUES decided not to provide any further cash to its 

subsidiary Capresa. As a result of this decision, the Spanish 

automotive supplier was forced to file for bankruptcy on January 

19, 2009. The unit sales of Capresa’s principal customers had 

suffered a massive contraction in the last few months, leading to 

an extreme drop in Capresa’s orders and revenues.

On January 22, 2009, ARQUES sold four subsidiaries - the BEA 

Group, the news agency ddp, the Italian adhesive tape manu-

facturer Evotape, and the Swiss chemicals company Rohner - to 

a private equity firm under the terms of a portfolio deal. ARQUES 

collected cash proceeds of EUR 20 million on the sale.

In early March 2009, ARQUES sold its investment in gas station 

equipment supplier Rohé, Vienna, to the private equity firm Value- 

Net Capital Partners, Munich.
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On March 12, 2009, the Sommer Road Cargo Solutions Group 

was sold to a consortium composed of strategic partners in the 

form of medium-sized German automotive companies and a 

financial investor, BSF Consulting AG.

Effective March 19, 2009, the Swiss printing company  

weberbenteli was sold to the financial investor ValueNet Capital 

Partners, Munich. 

Acquisitions
On February 11, 2009, ARQUES acquired the leading British 

driving school, British School of Motoring (BSM), Bristol, for a 

symbolic purchase price. The seller was the British RAC plc, a 

subsidiary of the insurance group AVIVA plc, the same company 

that sold Auto Windscreens to ARQUES in November 2008. 

With about 2,700 driving instructors (franchisees) and around 

100 service centers, BSM is the biggest driving school in the UK. 

Founded in 1910, this long-established firm is the market leader, 

with a share of about 10%. In 2008, BSM generated revenues 

of about GBP 34 million. In addition to the traditional business 

of providing driving instruction to private individuals, BSM also 

trains driving instructors and provides driver training services to 

corporations and public-sector institutions. BSM is one of the 

best-known brand names in Britain.

The Actebis Group, the largest generator of revenues in the 

ARQUES Group, acquired Ingram Micro’s broadline distribu-

tion business in Denmark as part of an asset deal. The distri-

bution business of Danish Ingram Micro, including its employ-

ees and the entire customer base, are being integrated in 

the Actebis Group’s Danish subsidiary. The transaction was 

completed at the beginning of July 2009. With this acquisi-

tion, Actebis Denmark, with branches in Norway and Sweden, 

can consistently further expand its business. In early August, 

ARQUES sold its shares in the Actebis Group to Droege Capital 

GmbH, Düsseldorf. The transaction is pending, subject to the 

approval of the cartel authorities, among other authorities, 

which is expected by late September or early October 2009.

Gigaset: Concentration on 
the core business 
In March, Gigaset Communications GmbH and Sagem Com-

munications agreed on the sale of Gigaset’s broadband busi-

ness as part of an asset deal. The transaction was completed 

and took effect economically on June 30, 2009. The broadband 

operations sold (including WiMAX), which were generating 

losses, accounted for around 15% of Gigaset Communications’ 

revenues in the past fiscal year (2007/2008). The separation of 

units not belonging to the core business and the focus on the 

telephony segment is a significant step in the reorganization of 

the ARQUES subsidiary, Gigaset Communications.

ARQUES Group and 
its subsidiaries

ARQUES Industries AG is the parent company of the ARQUES 

Group. It directly or indirectly holds all of the corporate group’s 

subsidiaries. ARQUES Industries AG is financed through its own 

resources as well as borrowed capital.
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In the following, we provide a detailed description of the busi-

ness situation of those subsidiaries considered to be material on 

the basis of their size. The materiality criterion applied for this 

purpose is annualized revenues higher than about EUR 50 million 

per subsidiary.

Oxxynova
Oxxynova produces liquid dimethyl terephthalate (DMT), an input 

material used in polyester production. DMT is used in the pro-

duction of textile fibers, technical fibers, films, raw materials for 

paint and glue products and technical plastics. Oxxynova is the 

biggest European producer of DMT for the free market. 

Industry analysis
The chemical industry in Germany has been hard hit by the 

worldwide economic crisis. According to the German associa-

tion of chemical companies VCI, the total revenues of German 

chemical companies in the first half of 2009 were 16.5% lower, 

and chemicals production was 15.5% lower than the respec-

tive year-ago figures. Thus, chemicals production fell back to 

the level of 2003. For the full year, the association anticipates a 

revenue decrease of 12%. In the second quarter, the situation 

stabilized on a low level.

Due to the consolidation of production at the Steyerberg site 

and the closure of two competing plants in the Netherlands 

and Germany, the earlier surplus capacities in DMT produc-

tion have been eliminated. Nonetheless, the European market 

is still under pressure, both from Asian suppliers of products 

for polyester production and from the ability of customers to 

substitute other products for DMT.

Company situation, business 
developments, restructuring 
and development measures 
The repercussions of the economic crisis on the automotive and 

chemical industries led to a substantial decrease in the demand 

for DMT in the first half of 2009. The customers of Oxxynova 

have scaled back their inventories and are running their pro-

duction at very low levels. Oxxynova adjusted its production to 

the substantially lower demand and implemented measures to 

boost efficiency on this lower production level. As a result of 

the lowered capacity utilization, coupled with high energy costs, 

production costs have increased on the whole. 

The company has responded to the reduced demand for DMT 

by practicing strict cost management. Among other things, the 

Subsidiary	 Acquisition (signing)	date

GolfHouse	 June 2005	 Retail and mail-order business

tiscon AG*	 October 2005	 Equity investment 
(among others, COS Distribution, 	 December 2006	 firm focusing on 
Avitos, Topedo, Chikara)	 February 2007	 IT distribution

Fritz Berger	 May 2006	 Retail and mail-order business

Oxxynova	 September 2006	 Specialty chemicals

Wanfried Druck Kalden	 March 2007	 Package and label printing

van Netten	 April 2007	 Confectionary manufacturer / industry

Actebis Group*	 July 2007	 IT and tele- 
(including NT plus 	 October 2007	 communications 
and Actebis Nordics)	 December 2007 	 distribution

Anvis	 September 2007	 Automotive supplier

SM Electronic	 November 2007	 Consumer electronics dealer

ASM (including Bpack)	 April 2008 (October 2008)	 Freight services provider

Carl Froh	 April 2008	 Steel processor/ automotive supplier

Gigaset Communications (formerly Siemens 		  Manufacturer and dealer for wireless 
Home and Office Communication Devices)	 August 2008	 telephones and ITC technology 

Auto Windscreens	 November 2008	 Automotive glass supplier

British School of Motoring	 February 2009	 Driving school

*Companies sold after the balance sheet date. 

The subsidiaries of ARQUES Industries AG as of June 30, 2009:
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company reached a works agreement with its employees, under 

which they will waive a portion of their compensation.

Outlook 
Based on the low level of capacity utilization in the first half, 

Oxxynova anticipates that full-year production quantities in the 

year 2009 will be substantially lower than the corresponding 

prior-year production quantities. Due to the rising production 

plans of its customers for the second half of 2009, Oxxynova 

anticipates a slight recovery of the DMT sales market in the 

remainder of the current fiscal year. Thanks to the installation 

of additional process engineering equipment in the production 

area, third-party distillation and shipping costs will no longer be 

incurred.

van Netten
van Netten is a manufacturer of innovative, high quality candies. 

Principal customers include various retail companies in Germany 

and abroad. All products are manufactured at the production 

site in Dortmund.

Industry analysis
Although the confectionery industry suffered from the negative 

trend of exports in the first half of 2009, domestic demand held 

up well. In Germany, confectionery revenues increased slightly, 

by 0.3%, although unit sales were down (-2%) in the first half of 

2009. In the segments of bonbons and candies, however, both 

unit sales and revenues were down throughout the industry. 

Company situation, business 
developments, restructuring 
and development measures 
In the first half of 2009, van Netten’s business performance was 

in line with the industry trend. Revenue declines in the segments 

of bonbons, fruit gummi and licorice were offset by increases 

in the lozenges product group. Despite the decision to forego 

unprofitable sales promotions, revenues remained on the level of 

the previous year, while earnings were substantially higher, with 

a positive EBITDA. 

At the International Confectionary Trade Fair (ISM) held in 

Cologne in February 2009, van Netten made contacts with new 

foreign customers. The company also presented new products 

at this industry gathering. In its production operations, the long-

established Dortmund-based company implemented measures 

to increase capacity in the lozenges segment and invested in 

new packaging equipment. The company is currently in the 

process of implementing cost-cutting investments in its mogul 

technology (fruit gummi production). 

van Netten has lowered its costs by continuously optimizing its 

recipes and as a result of the overall decline in prices for raw 

materials. The company achieved further cost savings by rene-

gotiating an IT services agreement.

Outlook 
As it continues to expand its export business, van Netten is 

planning to establish a subsidiary in Poland. A test listing was 

agreed with a discount customer for the innovative mousse 

bananas presented at the ISM. 

Falling energy prices will continue to have a positive influence 

on van Netten’s earnings. Accordingly, the confectionery manu-

facturer anticipates a positive business development and a sig-

nificantly positive EBITDA.

Actebis
As the third-largest ITC (Information Technology and Telecom-

munications) distributor in Europe, the Actebis Group distributes 

products in the areas of information technology and telecommu-

nications, mobile communications and entertainment electron-

ics. Founded in 1986, the company has about 1,900 employ-

ees serving more than 70,000 business customers throughout 

Europe. Actebis is represented through its own national subsid-

iaries in Germany, France, the Netherlands, Austria, Denmark, 

Norway and Sweden. The Actebis Group also includes the 

telecommunications distributor NT plus, which operates in the 

German market. In addition to its extensive product portfolio, 

sales and marketing services and e-services (including elec-

tronic connections), the Actebis Group also offers financial and 

logistical services to specialty retailers.

Industry analysis
According to forecasts of the European industry association 

EITO, the revenues generated from sales of ITC products and 

services in the European Union will decline 1.7% in 2009. Due to 

falling prices and postponed IT expenditures, the revenues gen-

erated from sales of IT hardware are expected to fall 6.6%, while 

those of software and IT services will decline at the much more 

moderate rate of 0.3% in 2009. Sales of entertainment electron-

ics are expected to contract 8.2% in 2009, after years of strong 

growth. For 2010, EITO anticipates ITC growth of 0.3%. 
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Company situation, business 
developments, restructuring 
and development measures 
The Actebis Group turned in a successful performance in the 

first half of 2009. For the first six months, the Actebis Group 

posted earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amorti-

zation (EBITDA) of EUR 23.1 million (H1 2008: EUR 22.0 million), 

indicative of a 5% increase over the corresponding year-ago 

figure. Having increased in the first quarter, the profit after taxes 

showed another significant increase over the corresponding 

year-ago figure in the second quarter. On the other hand, con-

solidated revenues declined by around 5% to EUR 1.6 billion (H1 

2008: 1.7 billion.). Actebis improved its operating profit margin 

(based on EBITDA) from 1.3% to 1.4%. 

The Actebis Group asserted its position well in the ITC market 

in the first half. The positive earnings figure was mainly the 

result of growth in the Northern European Actebis companies 

in Denmark, Norway and Sweden. In Germany, ITC wholesale 

business has slowed down considerably since the beginning of 

the year. Nonetheless, Actebis Peacock again performed very 

well in this difficult market environment. 

The Actebis Group is currently reaping considerable benefits 

from its lean corporate processes and structures, which are 

constantly being optimized. That is what makes Actebis a highly 

efficient cost leader. Combined with the Group’s broad cus-

tomer base and product portfolio, this advantage has proven to 

be successful in the crisis. 

The two affiliates NT plus and Actebis Peacock started off the 

second quarter in Germany with a jointly organized, one-day ITC 

trade fair known as Channel Trends+Visions 2009, at the Jahr-

hunderthalle in Bochum. At this event, the two companies and 

140 manufacturers presented a wide range of IT and telecom-

munications products and services, as well as product solutions 

that issue from the convergence of information technology and 

telecommunications. The event drew about 4,500 visitors and 

the response was positive all around. In the words of Actebis 

Peacock and NT plus customers, this event set a new bench-

mark for the industry.

The SAP Merchandise Management system, which was intro-

duced at NT plus without problems at the beginning of the year, 

has proven successful after only a short time. In the first half of 

2009, ITC specialty retailers reaped the benefits of faster and 

easier order processing, automated goods receiving processes 

and the ability to ship merchandise in the name of third parties. 

By this means, NT plus set the course for a larger and improved 

product offering and established the prerequisites for further 

growth. In July, the regulatory authorities in Denmark approved 

the acquisition of the broad-line distribution business of Ingram 

Micro. Thus, the employees and customer base of the Danish 

Ingram Micro subsidiary have officially belonged to Actebis 

Denmark since July 3.  

Outlook 
ARQUES sold its shares in the Actebis Group to Droege Capital 

GmbH, Düsseldorf, in early August. The transaction is pending, 

subject to the approval of the cartel authorities, among other 

authorities, which is expected by late September or early 

October 2009.

Anvis
The Anvis Group is a primary developer and manufacturer of 

innovative functional solutions for the motion stability, comfort 

and safety of motor vehicles. The Group’s product line encom-

passes the complete process chain with respect to anti-vibra-

tion systems, from the initial idea to serial production. The Anvis 

Group serves the automotive industry from its own sites and 

branch offices all over the world.

Industry analysis
According to the industry association VDA, 10% fewer vehicles 

were sold in Western Europe in the first half of 2009 compared 

to the first half of 2008. Nearly 30% of new vehicle registrations 

occurred in the German market, as unit sales were 19% lower in 

the rest of Western Europe in the first half of 2009. In the Russian 

market, unit sales of passenger vehicles were down 49% in the 

Russian market, 35% in the United States and 21% in Japan. On 

the other hand, unit sales were up 4% in Brazil, 3% in India and 

even 19% in China, in the first half of 2009. According to VDA, 

worldwide new passenger vehicle registrations in June showed 

signs of growing stabilization. In Western Europe, for example, 

new passenger vehicle registrations in the first half of 2009 were 

almost 5% higher than the corresponding year-ago figure. Unit 

sales were higher in China, Brazil and India
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Company situation, business 
developments, restructuring 
and development measures 
The business performance of the Anvis Group in the first half of 

2009 was impacted by the persistently weak state of the auto-

motive industry. The year began with historically low call-off 

orders from brand-name manufacturers. Recently, call-off orders 

have been improving from month to month, but the demand is 

still below that of the year-ago period. The operating earnings 

of the Anvis Group were adversely impacted by the unsatisfac-

tory call-off orders and the low rate of capacity utilization. Earn-

ings were also adversely impacted by structural problems in the 

French plant in Décize, which have led to continual operating 

losses despite much higher revenues. The management contin-

ues to devote its undivided attention to solving these structural 

problems by means of workforce adjustments and closing parts 

of the plant.

The Anvis management responded promptly to the poor state of 

the industry and initiated important counter measures to boost 

efficiency. In this connection, the workforce was reduced by not 

renewing temporary employment contracts and laying off tem-

porary workers. The Anvis Group also renegotiated its contracts 

with customers so that they will contribute to capital expendi-

ture costs at an earlier stage of the process and move up their 

payment terms. Furthermore, receivables management was 

intensified and the capital expenditures planned for 2009 were 

temporarily suspended. 

Outlook 
The Anvis Group will rigorously implement the initiated restruc-

turing measures and focus in particular on further reducing its 

fixed costs. Particular attention will be given still to the restruc-

turing work at the French site in Décize, including measures 

to reorganize and considerably streamline the production pro-

cesses and lower administrative costs, while boosting produc-

tivity. The earnings situation continues to be strained.

SM Electronic
Based in Stapelfeld (near Hamburg), SM Electronic distributes 

products under the brand name “Skymaster,” including satellite 

and antenna receivers (digital TV) and electronic accessories for 

audio, video, home entertainment and multimedia.

Industry analysis
According to a forecast of the industry association EITO, the 

European market for entertainment electronics is expected to 

contract 8.2% in 2009, after several years of high growth rates. 

According to the industry association Bitkom, the German market 

is expected to contract by around 6.5%, mainly as a result of 

falling prices, especially for flat-screen TVs. On the other hand, 

the industry association is predicting higher revenues from sales 

of DVD players for Blue Ray discs, as well as digital set-top 

boxes for television reception and game consoles.  

Company situation, business 
developments, restructuring 
and development measures 
Due to the weak economic conditions, SM Electronic’s rev-

enues in the first half of 2009 were below those of the year-

ago period. As a result of the restructuring measures that have 

already been initiated, the operating losses were reduced in 

the first half of 2009, despite the licensing costs incurred. By 

in-sourcing the refurbishment business (meaning the quality-

assured refurbishment and corrective maintenance of prod-

ucts), the company significantly reduced its charge-off rate. 

Furthermore, SM Electronic completely handled its own 

product returns again and was therefore able to shorten pro-

cessing times considerably in the first half of 2009. Warehouse 

inventories have been tracked continually since the beginning 

of the year, allowing for precise, day-to-day analysis. 

SM Electronic intensified its sales activities and began to intro-

duce to market newly developed and visually appealing terminal 

devices for satellite reception. In this connection, the company 

participated in the trade fair ANGA Cable in Cologne in June 

and in the IFA preview events in Hamburg and Munich in July. At 

these events, the company presented the first Skymaster brand 

receiver with PVR (Personal Video Recorder). These receivers 

can store TV programs and movies on an internal or external 

hard drive. According to testing conducted by the trade press, 

Skymaster digital TV receivers are among the best in the market 

in terms of the price-benefit ratio. In Switzerland, SM Electronic 

entered into a strategic partnership with a major supplier of elec-

tronic products to home improvement and specialty stores. 
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Outlook 
SM Electronic will expand its sales force and intensify its 

selling activities in the further course of the year. To that end, 

it will provide training to upgrade the sales capabilities of its 

staff. SM Electronic is also exploring the possibility of growing 

its business with new brands in other markets. The company 

would like to offer procurement and merchandising services to 

partners in Germany through its subsidiary in Hong Kong and 

its own merchandising team.

Agencia Servicios Mensajeria (ASM)
ASM is a Spanish delivery service that works primarily for large-

scale customers in the sectors of telecommunications, banks 

and insurance, automotive, optics, dentistry and pharmaceuti-

cals. Based in Madrid, ASM offers courier, delivery and special 

logistical services to its customers. More than 1,100 employees 

work for the ASM Red network, in more than 70 branch offices 

and field offices in Spain, Portugal and Andorra.

Industry analysis
The recession in Spain deepened in the first half of 2009. In the 

first quarter, the Spanish economy contracted 2.9% and the IMF 

predicts a 4% decline for the full year 2009. The shrinking GDP 

is mainly due to reduced domestic demand, which fell 5.4% in 

the first three months of 2009. In line with this trend, the volume 

of shipments in Spain continued to decrease considerably.

Company situation, business 
developments, restructuring 
and development measures 
The revenues that ASM generated with its regular customers 

followed the trend of the weak economy in Spain. By integrat-

ing the distribution network of competitor Bpack, which ASM 

had acquired in October 2008, the company was able to offset 

a portion of its revenue losses. The successfully implemented 

restructuring measures to boost efficiency and lower costs were 

not enough to offset the effect of lower orders on the company’s 

revenues. 

The Spanish delivery services provider acquired new customers 

and reinforced the loyalty of existing customers in the first half of 

2009. Particular attention was devoted to cash management and 

to implementing further cost-saving measures. ASM adjusted its 

workforce to reflect the economic conditions. 

Outlook 
ASM will continue its intensive efforts to acquire new customers 

in order to offset the revenue decline. The still very restrictive 

lending policies of banks represent a particular challenge for 

liquidity management. 

Carl Froh
Based in Sundern (in the Sauerland region of Germany), Carl 

Froh is a leading manufacturer of precision tubes and com-

ponents built to customers’ specifications. The company pro-

duces low-tolerance welded precision steel tubes designed to 

meet special demands and develops comprehensive solutions 

for high-quality components and modules for a diverse range 

of applications. 

Industry analysis
The steel tube industry has been significantly affected by the 

general state of industry, especially the automotive industry. In 

the first four months of 2009, the production output of German 

industry was 19.3% less than the corresponding year-ago figure. 

Based on the positive signals of business sentiment indexes, the 

National Association of German Industry spoke of a bottoming 

out of the recession around the end of the first half of 2009 in its 

economic report. In the automotive industry, 10% fewer vehicles 

were sold in Western Europe compared to the first half of 2008.

Company situation, business 
developments, restructuring 
and development measures 
Due to the negative economic trends and the substantial drop 

in prices for materials, Carl Froh’s revenues were substantially 

lower in the first half of 2009. Accordingly, the company initi-

ated counter measures, including shortened working hours for 

a large number of employees. The company anticipates that this 

measure will remain in effect until the end of the year. 

As part of its program to optimize production processes, Carl 

Froh overhauled a tube welding machine and invested smaller 

sums in machining equipment. The company also provided con-

tinuing education courses for its employees. 

Carl Froh acquired several new orders in the first half which had 

not been contained in the budget, including the biggest order in 

the company’s history, for an amount of EUR 25 million and with 

a term until 2011. 
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The company reduced its inventories to improve liquidity. It also 

negotiated longer payment terms with suppliers.

Outlook 
Carl Froh expects that the component production market will 

revive in the second half of this year, which will lead to more 

stable prices for raw materials. In connection with its newly 

acquired orders, the company intends to make partial invest-

ments in its materials flow and optimize its logistics, which 

should lead to improved productivity. In addition, Carl Froh will 

install a new software program to optimally manage corporate 

resources in the second half of this year. 

Gigaset Communications GmbH
The business of Gigaset Communications is focused on the 

design, development, production and distribution of high-quality 

home communication products under the brand name Siemens 

Gigaset. The product portfolio includes fixed-line telephones, 

voice-over-IP models, software solutions and home media 

products. The main production facility is in Bocholt, Germany, 

where Gigaset’s products are manufactured according to the 

highest quality and environmental standards. 

Industry analysis
According to a study, the market for cordless telephones will 

stagnate in Western Europe and shrink in North America over 

the next five years. In Eastern Europe, the Near East and Latin 

America, the experts anticipate rising unit sales of cordless 

telephones, although that will not completely offset the overall 

negative trend. For set-top boxes, the industry association 

BITKOM anticipates rising revenues in Europe.

Company situation, business 
developments, restructuring 
and development measures 
In the first half of 2009, Gigaset Communications GmbH 

expanded its European market share (measured by revenues) 

by three percentage points to 33%. Gigaset also registered 

considerable growth in Germany, where Gigaset has a market 

share of well over 50%. 

In the first half of 2009, the company successfully completed 

most of the steps required to separate itself from the complex 

corporate structure of the former owner. The company also 

intensified its efforts to establish a stand-alone corporate 

structure suited to a medium-sized enterprise like Gigaset. 

Important aspects of that work include the practice of strict 

cost management and the creation of a management struc-

ture equipped with suitable controlling instances and its own 

IT infrastructure. The top management team was completely 

assembled in the first half.

In March 2009, Gigaset reached an agreement with Sagem 

Communications on the sale of Gigaset’s broadband busi-

ness by way of an asset deal. The transaction was completed 

with effect on July 1, 2009. The spin-off of the loss-making 

broadband division, which was no longer part of the compa-

ny’s core business, was a fundamental objective in restructur-

ing the company. 

Gigaset also added new, high-quality cordless telephones 

to its product portfolio, including the Gigaset E490/495, a 

very robust and functional telephone that can be used under 

tough conditions. It is aimed at demanding target groups 

such as craftsmen, for example. The new telephones Gigaset 

C590/595 and Gigaset S790/S795 feature outstanding 

sound, versatile applications and attractive designs. Readers 

of the trade magazine “connect” voted the Gigaset Model 

SL 785, the company’s flagship product, as Product of the 

Year among cordless telephones. This award is indicative of 

Gigaset’s leading market position in Germany. In designing 

its telephones, Gigaset places great emphasis on so-called 

eco-functions, such as electricity-saving network devices 

and variable functions to reduce transmission power. In the 

new generation of Gigaset models, the base unit automati-

cally shuts down transmission when it goes on stand-by. 

Aside from innovative new product developments, Gigaset 

also introduced a new software program for data synchroni-

zation between Gigaset telephones and computers. The soft-

ware matches all the address data. Furthermore, pictures and 

ring tones of many common formats can be downloaded to 

the telephones.

Outlook 
Gigaset Communications will continue to focus on the profit-

able core business of voice products (cordless telephones, tele-

phones for voice-over-IP and fixed-line telephones). In addition, 

ARQUES plans to optimize its internal processes with the wide-

ranging assistance of the Task Force and implement cost-saving 

measures in all areas of the company. Targeted growth will be 

generated through product innovations and by expanding the 
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international business, especially in the United States and in 

regional growth markets in Asia. Furthermore, the company 

intends to complete the establishment of new internal processes 

and structures in the second half of the year. 

Auto Windscreens
Auto Windscreens is the second-biggest automotive glass 

specialist in Great Britain. It repairs glass damage in about 90 

service centers and in the field, using more than 700 mobile 

service units. The company replaces and repairs automotive 

glass for a wide range of customers, including insurance com-

panies, leasing companies, car rental companies, other compa-

nies, government agencies and institutions. Auto Windscreens 

also operates its own production site in Chesterfield, where it 

produces about 250,000 windshields from blanks per year.

Industry analysis
Due to the poor state of the economy, traffic volumes in Great 

Britain continued to decline in the first half of 2009. Due to the 

economic conditions, people are less inclined to travel, which 

also has a negative impact on traffic volumes.

Company situation, business 
developments, restructuring 
and development measures 
In line with the general state of the industry, the revenues of 

Auto Windscreens were well below the year-ago level. Thanks to 

the restructuring measures that have already been implemented 

and the strict cost management that has been practiced, as well 

as the renegotiation of contracts with suppliers, the operating 

profit on the EBITDA level was positive and significantly higher 

than the corresponding year-ago figure. The company intends to 

further improve earnings by means of intensive cash and receiv-

ables management.

In the first half of 2009, Auto Windscreens continued the process 

of separating itself from the corporate structure of its former 

owner. The carve-out process is supposed to be completed in 

September. In this connection, the company installed a new IT 

system, established new centralized processes and introduced 

a leaner organizational structure. In this regard, one manage-

ment level was basically eliminated. Workforce adjustment mea-

sures were carried out in a socially compatible manner. Auto 

Windscreens also initiated steps to renew its motor vehicle 

fleet, with increased emphasis on fuel-saving vehicles. Also, the 

company equipped additional service vehicles with a new, inter-

nally developed mobile protective shelter, to make possible on-

site repairs. New tools were introduced to speed up the repair or 

replacement of windshields. At the production facility in Ches-

terfield, new components were installed in the furnaces to boost 

efficiency and lower energy costs.

Auto Windscreens has begun the process of introducing a new 

corporate identity, so as to present itself to the market as a now 

independent company. A new sales director with many years 

of industry experience will assist the British company in this 

process. The company also implemented measures to bring 

about a more efficient organization of the sales department and 

call center.

Outlook 
Auto Windscreens will complete the process of separating itself 

from the former parent group in the third quarter of 2009 and 

continue its restructuring efforts without pause. The main pri-

ority is to maintain the focus on the core business and improve 

the manual work procedures. Concurrently with the introduc-

tion of its new corporate identity, Auto Windscreens will inten-

sify its marketing activities. 
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Report on opportunities 
and risks

The future business development of the ARQUES Group 

entails opportunities and risks. The company’s risk strategy 

involves taking full advantage of the opportunities and limiting 

the associated risks by employing appropriate instruments. 

Opportunities of the ARQUES 
business model
The business model of ARQUES Industries AG involves acquir-

ing companies in difficult transitional situations and actively 

restructuring them. Once they have been successfully restruc-

tured, they are either sold (IPO, trade sale) or held over the long 

term. ARQUES strives for medium-term investment periods 

(three to five years). Short-term involvement is generally not 

in the interest of the company. In all three phases (acquisition, 

restructuring, exit), ARQUES is presented with tremendous 

business opportunities that manifest primarily in the form of 

capital appreciation from the purchase price to the sale price 

of the corresponding subsidiaries. Furthermore, the operating 

results of the restructured companies also contribute to the 

success of the ARQUES Group. The so-called bargain pur-

chase revenues collected in connection with the acquisition of 

companies can also serve to boost the Group’s profit.

Acquisitions
ARQUES boasts a highly specialized acquisition team with vast 

experience in taking over companies in difficult transitional situ-

ations. Thanks to the solid network of contacts built up by the 

M&A team, ARQUES always has information on a large number 

of attractive acquisition candidates. ARQUES is actively sought 

out as a partner by large corporations looking to spin off sub-

sidiaries that no longer fit in with their core business. Therefore, 

further transactions of this kind can be expected in the future. 

As mentioned above, ARQUES intends to focus on acquiring 

companies that have the lowest possible level of balance sheet 

risks and other risks.

Restructuring
In restructuring its subsidiaries, ARQUES employs its own 

team of reorganization experts with expertise in all key busi-

ness areas. These highly specialized teams of the ARQUES 

Task Force are deployed under the direction of an ARQUES 

subsidiary manager. Broad-based restructuring success can be 

achieved within a short time, as multiple project-specific teams 

are usually involved with one company at a time.

The ARQUES subsidiary manager is the operational leader of the 

on-site restructuring process. The Subsidiary Manager holds an 

equity stake in the subsidiary of usually 5% to 10% and acts as 

an executive body, i.e. as a general manager or board of direc-

tors, in implementing measures under his own responsibility. 

The high degree of decentralized autonomy activates an addi-

tional dimension of personal potential and assures the alignment 

of interests between the Subsidiary Manager and ARQUES. This 

arrangement affords a great amount of leeway to the Subsidiary 

Manager and maximum flexibility to the subsidiary. 

This restructuring model featuring a Subsidiary Manager and a 

Task Force makes it possible for ARQUES to restructure its sub-

sidiaries efficiently and put them on a solid footing. ARQUES 

will continue to apply this concept in the future to successfully 

restructure its subsidiaries. 

Exits
In accordance with its business model, ARQUES seeks to sell 

the revitalized subsidiary (“exit”) after completion of the funda-

mental restructuring steps. 

Since January of 2009, the Acquisitions and Exits functions 

have been consolidated within the ARQUES M&A Department. 

This step will make it possible to realize cost savings because 

smaller teams are now available to work on acquisitions or sales, 

depending on the project needs, so that capacities can be allo-

cated more efficiently. Above all, however, this move was meant 

to ensure that the experience and knowledge required to make 

a successful exit at the end of the holding period are taken into 

consideration already in making the purchase decision. Further-

more, the respective knowledge gathered on individual compa-

nies during the acquisition process can also be put to good use 

in the eventual sale process.
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Risk management
ARQUES disposes of a computerized, systematic risk manage-

ment system known as Arq-Risk, which is used to implement, 

assure compliance with, and monitor the risk strategy adopted 

by the ARQUES Group. The Arq-Risk program covers all depart-

ments and subsidiaries of the Group and meets the Group’s cor-

porate governance criteria. In previous years, the system has 

proven to be an effective means of analyzing specific risks in a 

transparent manner and pointing to suitable control possibilities. 

In view of the current financial crisis, which is having a serious 

impact on the Group’s earnings performance, these mechanisms 

have been concretized and adapted to the prevailing conditions. 

Given the company’s expansion into other European countries, 

particular emphasis is being placed on ensuring compliance 

with the risk structures to be observed in those countries.

The ARQUES business model is geared to exploiting above-

average business opportunities, which usually also entail par-

ticular risks. The purpose of the Arq-Risk system is to support 

the goals adopted as part of the business strategy by identifying 

existing risks in a timely and systematic manner so that they 

can be optimally managed. By this means, ARQUES seeks to 

make the best possible use of all business opportunities. As an 

integral component of the business strategy, the risk policy of 

ARQUES Industries AG is geared to increasing the company’s 

value.

The business responsibility, however, lies with the operating units 

at the level of the portfolio companies. Therefore, the operational 

risk management system is based in these entities. Moreover, 

every employee is responsible for identifying and managing risks 

within his or her direct area of responsibility. The management 

of every subsidiary is responsible for coordinating and tracking 

risks. All risks and information deemed to be significant on the 

basis of risk management criteria must be reported immediately 

to the management, as well as to the Corporate Executive Board 

and Corporate Internal Audit, where applicable.

Opportunities and risks pertaining to individual subsidiaries of 

the ARQUES Group are discussed in the report on opportunities 

and risks of the subsidiaries starting on page 21. 

CORPORATE RISKS

Management risks  
The business purpose of ARQUES Industries AG is to hold direct 

and indirect equity investments in companies and groups of 

companies that form an economic unit (referred to as “subsid-

iaries” in the following). 

In selecting its investment targets, ARQUES generally concen-

trates on companies that can be acquired at the lowest possible 

purchase price due to their poor operating performance and that 

exhibit significant potential for capital appreciation after being 

successfully restructured. As such, the companies in question 

are often in a state of acute distress at the time of acquisition and 

there is great need for restructuring. Furthermore, ARQUES is an 

established partner to large corporate groups that are looking to 

spin off the peripheral activities and subsidiaries that no longer 

fit in with their core business. In addition, when such companies 

are acquired by ARQUES, their operating performance is gener-

ally well below the industry average and harbors restructuring 

potential because they have not been optimally managed due to 

the fact that they did not belong to the core business. In select-

ing acquisitions, ARQUES does not focus on any specific indus-

try, but searches out suitable acquisition candidates in nearly 

every industry. 

ARQUES generally deploys its own people to acquire, restruc-

ture, and manage its subsidiaries, meaning either permanent 

employees of the ARQUES Group or non-employees who work 

with ARQUES on a permanent basis. In this regard, the ARQUES 

Group is fundamentally exposed to the risk that the management 

will make poor decisions and, for instance, acquire a company 

that either can’t be restructured or whose restructuring involves 

unreasonable effort (see the section entitled “Acquisition risks”), 

or whose restructuring fails when the wrong measures are 

implemented (see the section entitled “Failure of restructuring”). 

Under either scenario, it may not be possible to sell the subsid-

iary or only at terms that are not favorable for ARQUES

Information systems and 
reporting structure
The risk management system of the ARQUES Group comple-

ments the company-wide controlling and reporting system. It 

utilizes the results of those systems as a basis of financial infor-

mation and supports the quality of the controlling results.
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In this regard, it should be remembered that at the time of acqui-

sition many of the companies purchased by ARQUES are in situ-

ations of acute distress that need to be mastered quickly and 

effectively. This depends very much on the skill of the ARQUES 

employees assigned to the task and on the oversight of the 

Executive Board. Only the use of a comprehensive and reliable 

information system makes it possible to inform the Executive 

Board promptly about unfavorable developments in the subsid-

iaries. The ARQUES Group has such an information system in 

place and refines it continually. Nevertheless, there is always the 

possibility of the information system failing in individual cases 

or being misapplied by the employees involved, resulting in a 

failure to promptly identify negative economic developments 

within a subsidiary.

Risks of the individual phases of 
the ARQUES business model

Acquisition risks
The ARQUES Group specializes in the acquisition of companies 

in difficult transitional situations (e.g. classic turnaround candi-

dates, corporate spin-offs, unresolved succession issues). Gen-

erally, these companies have already been generating losses for 

some time when they are acquired by ARQUES. The ensuing 

due diligence process is typically carried out with the company’s 

own employees from the Analysis, Legal, and Finance depart-

ments. External consultants are hired to assist in certain specific 

disciplines such as taxation, or when necessary to make up for 

any lack of capacity on the part of ARQUES’ own staff. 

Despite careful analysis, there is the risk of ARQUES purchasing 

a company that can’t be restructured or can only be restructured 

with an unreasonable amount of effort and financial resources 

(risk of unsuccessful acquisition). In such a case, ARQUES would 

seek to sell the company ahead of plan and write off all of the 

financial resources used to acquire and finance the subsidiary 

which are not recovered by the sale. Because ARQUES usually 

only pays a symbolic purchase price for a financially stressed 

company, or at least a purchase price that is less than the book 

value of the company’s net assets, the economic loss would be 

manageable in such cases. In the case of acquisitions involving 

larger purchase prices, ARQUES is exposed to the risk of losing 

the entire amount of the purchase price, plus any further obliga-

tions that ARQUES may have assumed in connection with the 

acquisition. 

In the worst case, the subsidiary could become insolvent if 

ARQUES does not succeed in selling it quickly enough (see 

“Failure of restructuring” below).  

Failure of the restructuring 
The company’s goal is always to restructure a subsidiary as 

quickly as possible in order to keep its liquidity needs and oper-

ating losses as low as possible after the acquisition. This can fail 

if, for example, it becomes evident that the cost of restructur-

ing would be too high, the market situation of the industry has 

deteriorated, or management makes mistakes in the restructur-

ing process. In the worst case, the subsidiary could become 

insolvent and ARQUES could, under certain circumstances, lose 

all the financial resources it had used to acquire and finance 

the subsidiary. If ARQUES financed or secured the acquisition 

of the subsidiary with bank loans and guaranteed them, it is 

obligated to continue repaying them even after the subsidiary 

becomes insolvent. The costs accruing to ARQUES in connec-

tion with a subsidiary are generally allocated to that subsidiary. 

They include the company’s costs for the Subsidiary Manager 

and other members of the Task Force provided by ARQUES. In 

the worst case if the restructuring were to fail, ARQUES could 

lose all the financial resources as well as the time invested by its 

personnel and would not receive any reimbursement of these 

costs from the subsidiary. In addition, ARQUES may not even be 

able to sell the subsidiary successfully or not for a substantive 

purchase price. 

Risks of company sales
The risk with respect to the sale of restructured companies is 

that no buyer can be found. In particular, the number of busi-

ness transactions has significantly decreased as a result of the 

current economic situation and financial crisis; thus, ARQUES’ 

exit opportunities have also worsened considerably. If ARQUES 

were not able to sell a restructured subsidiary, it would have to 

continue operating and developing that company, which would 

tie up management capacities. If the economy were to worsen 

further, some of a subsidiary’s previously achieved restructuring 

successes might be negated, or it might generate less operat-

ing income and could – in the worst case – require additional 

financial resources from ARQUES as the parent company. At the 

same time, it could be necessary to invest funds in the sub-

sidiary within the scope of strategic decisions, e.g. the devel-

opment of new markets, expansion of the product and service 

portfolio, or investment in new production units. 



19

h
a

l
f

 y
ear




 re


p
o

rt


Another risk of company sales is the possibility of the buyer 

seeking to invoke any warranties issued by ARQUES as part of 

the purchase agreement in order to lower the agreed purchase 

price.

Economic and market-related risks

Economic risks
General economic development in Germany, the European Union, 

and the world has a varied impact on the company’s business 

development. In contrast to what applies to most other compa-

nies, the following can be said of ARQUES: a weak economic 

climate means an improved acquisitions market for ARQUES 

Industries AG. More companies become distressed and are put 

up for sale in their entirety, or large corporations seek to sell 

“underperforming assets” in order to boost the overall perfor-

mance of the remaining company. However, the sales market is 

more difficult, as potentially fewer companies are interested in 

acquisitions, the restructuring of subsidiaries is more difficult, 

and valuations are lower. A weak economic situation can also 

impact the reorganization as well as the subsidiary’s further eco-

nomic development. By contrast, a stronger economy normally 

improves the disposal market and general economic situation 

of the subsidiaries while making acquisitions more expensive. 

Success therefore depends in part on the ability of ARQUES’ 

employees to take advantage of the current economic situation 

and future trend.

Current developments in light 
of the financial crisis
In their latest forecasts, the International Monetary Fund (IMF) 

and the Organization for Economic Development and Coop-

eration (OECD) agree that the global recession will approach a 

bottom in the second half of the year. Still, the OECD anticipates 

that global gross domestic product will contract 4.1% for the 

full year 2009. Export-dependent nations like Japan (-6.8%) and 

Germany (-6.1%) will suffer the brunt of the downturn in world 

trade. According to the IMF, the euro zone in total will see its eco-

nomic output shrink 4.8% in 2009. The recent, partially dramatic 

economic downturn already began to affect the business activ-

ity and earnings performance of the ARQUES Group in 2008 and 

will continue to have a substantial impact in 2009. However, as a 

result of the uncertainties described above, the risks cannot be 

fully assessed at this point in time. If the economic stimulus and 

financial rescue measures that have already been adopted or 

announced do not yield the desired effect of reviving the global 

economy, the risk of a deeper and longer-lasting recession will 

grow. As a result of banks’ reluctance to extend credit, many 

investment projects are being postponed all over the world. 

Other risks could arise from the increasing unemployment as 

well as the ensuing costs that can be expected as a result of the 

global economic slowdown. 

Since business responsibility lies with the operating units at the 

subsidiary level, the company and industry-specific risks are 

managed there on a local basis. As a result of the broad range 

of industries represented within the ARQUES investment port-

folio, the degree to which the various subsidiaries are affected 

by the recession varies. While companies that depend on the 

automobile industry have experienced a relatively sharp drop in 

demand, companies operating in the consumer goods or whole-

sale sectors are performing comparatively well. ARQUES began 

taking steps to optimize its investment portfolio back in mid-

2008 and identified particularly risk-intensive subsidiaries, some 

of which have been sold in the meantime. Additional steps in 

this regard had already been implemented by the reporting date. 

These steps have significantly improved the Group’s risk profile, 

even though numerous companies are still reporting difficult 

business development in 2009, which could lead to significant 

operating losses. If the economic climate were to worsen further 

as a result of the financial crisis, the ARQUES Group’s subsid-

iaries might suffer further order losses and declining revenues, 

along with the possible loss of important customers, which 

would have a correspondingly negative impact on the earnings 

performance of the respective subsidiary. ARQUES will counter 

any further pressure on profit margins by implementing addi-

tional cost-saving measures and capacity adjustments, includ-

ing shortened working hours for employees and the elimination 

of jobs. In addition, the capital expenditure programs announced 

by the subsidiaries will be scaled back or postponed in order to 

conserve liquidity.

In response to the economic crisis, ARQUES Industries AG 

has initiated important cost-saving steps, some of which have 

already been completely implemented. For example, the costs 

of the holding company will be reduced by more than 50% by 

2010. Furthermore, we also adjusted the work processes struc-

turally to the new general conditions and, for instance, combined 

the Acquisition and Exit departments. 

On a positive note, energy and commodity prices have fallen 

as a result of the global recession and that development is 
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having a positive effect on the companies’ production costs. In 

this respect, ARQUES is working to achieve an optimal posi-

tion by implementing structured procurement strategies and 

entering into medium and long-term master agreements. It is 

not possible at this time to foresee what risks might develop in 

the foreign exchange markets, as the world’s leading currencies 

are currently subject to considerable volatility. In the euro area, 

this assessment applies in particular to the exchange rate of the 

euro to the U.S. dollar and to the British pound.

Other company-related risks 
of ARQUES Industries AG  
As a holding company engaged in the restructuring of compa-

nies, ARQUES Industries AG is exposed to certain industry-spe-

cific risks, which are described below.

It is fundamentally conceivable for new competitors to enter 

the market, increasing the demand for and therefore also the 

prices of the companies sold in this market. It should be noted, 

however, that the current structural crisis affecting so many 

industries actually tends to broaden the purchase market for 

ARQUES. 

There is a risk of default associated with existing letters of sub-

ordination and debt waivers on the part of some ARQUES com-

panies vis-à-vis other Group companies if the respective debtor 

is unable to repay its obligations. Insofar as guarantees such as 

purchase price guarantees were issued in connection with the 

acquisition of individual companies and the underlying obliga-

tions cannot be serviced from the cash flow of the given subsid-

iary, ARQUES Industries AG would have to make good on those 

obligations by putting up its own liquidity. 

In order to reduce the risk of wrong decisions as well as liabil-

ity risks, various measures have been taken to decentralize the 

personnel structures within the Group by ensuring that persons 

holding senior managerial positions in the lead companies of the 

Group do not also hold such position in the fully consolidated 

subsidiaries. 

INDUSTRY AND MARKET RISKS 

Industry risks
Industry risks are risks that affect a particular market, such 

as reduced demand for a certain chemical product that can 

be substituted with a cheaper product, or the entry of new 

and aggressive competitors. Such risks generally affect the 

ARQUES subsidiaries in a given market segment. 

In general, it can be noted that planning security has diminished 

in all the subsidiaries, in that customers are providing less con-

crete information on future unit sales quantities, placing their 

orders more on a short-term basis, delaying purchase deci-

sions and fundamentally re-examining their projects. 

Report on the opportunities 
and risks of the subsidiaries
The subsidiaries of the ARQUES Group operate in various 

markets with different products. Industry-specific risks are 

diversified within the ARQUES Group, whereby the current port-

folio exhibits a concentration in the two sectors of Consumer 

Electronics (Actebis and Gigaset) and Automotive (Anvis, Auto 

Windscreens and BSM). In addition to general economic fluctu-

ations, the economic development of each individual subsidiary 

can be negatively impacted by a potentially fast deteriorating 

market situation in the respective industry – in extreme cases 

even resulting in insolvency for the subsidiary that cannot be 

prevented by the subsidiary’s management. As a general rule, 

the specific risks applicable to each subsidiary are managed on 

a local basis by the companies themselves.

The following section presents the industry-specific opportu-

nities and risks facing the subsidiaries currently being held by 

ARQUES Industries AG.

As a retail sales company, Golf House Direktversand GmbH is 

generally exposed to the fluctuations in consumer purchasing 

behavior. Because the products sold in this market are highly 

comparable and ample information can be obtained about them 

from the media, consumers tend to be very price-sensitive. The 

supply pool is focused on a few suppliers, who as a result are 

very powerful. This is the reason for the further development 

of house brands. As is typical for this industry, the company’s 

success is highly dependent on the quality of its employees. 

Periods of extreme weather, such as a very hot summer or an 
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early, snowy winter can have a negative impact on consumers’ 

purchasing behavior.

Having successfully completed the restructuring phase, the 

company closed the old Golf House stores in Berlin and Hamburg 

and the last remaining Golf Discount store in Berlin in 2008. In 

line with the company’s expansion plan, large, modern stores 

were opened at the same locations. The company also opened 

a new store in Bremen.

The installation of a new customer database has made it possi-

ble to conduct direct marketing activities in a more efficient and 

targeted manner. In the autumn of 2008, the company entered 

into a business relationship with a new, highly professional logis-

tical services provider that is capable of meeting the demands 

of multi-channel retailers (mail-order and in-store sales). Having 

boosted its revenues 10%, Golf House extended its market 

leadership position significantly in 2008. Despite the difficult 

market environment that can be expected in 2009, character-

ized by shrinking profit margins on durable goods and problems 

in foreign sales markets, Golf House will continue to pursue its 

strategy. The insolvency of a key competitor offers Golf House 

the chance to win additional market shares.

As a retail sales company, the Fritz Berger Group is subject 

primarily to the risks associated with the general fluctuations 

in consumer purchasing behavior. The camping and outdoor 

industry is also heavily dependent on weather conditions. The 

position of Fritz Berger as a leading specialty mail-order busi-

ness in this segment can be limited by the market penetration of 

new competitors such as the manufacturers of camping trailers. 

Furthermore, the expansion of activity on the part of other distri-

bution channels, such as discount retailers and price-aggressive 

online dealers, for example could also lead to sales reductions. 

A variety of circumstances, including tax increases for camping 

trailers and recreational vehicles, the uncertain outlook for fuel 

prices, specifically diesel fuel, an unfavorable pollution rating, 

the uncertainty regarding the future additional costs to result 

from CO2 policies or the general reluctance of consumers to 

spend money amid the current economic crisis could lead to a 

further drop in the sales of these vehicles and thus also have an 

indirect negative effect on sales of accessories. Typical for the 

industry in the area of human resources, business success is 

particularly dependent on the quality of the purchasing staff and 

the store managers.

The Fritz Berger Group was able to attract new customers 

through its new main catalog layout and redesigned website. 

The newly introduced Fritz Berger customer card helped 

achieve greater brand loyalty. The “return to the brand” cam-

paign yielded positive results in the textile business, which has 

been continually further expanded. With regard to sales, Fritz 

Berger also intends to boost its POA by opening new stores, 

while optimizing its earnings mix by closing outlets that are too 

small or unprofitable.

Oxxynova GmbH produces dimethyl terephthalate (DMT), a raw 

material used in the production of polyester. Polyesters are used 

primarily for the production of textile fibers and technical fibers, 

foils, and films, and as a specialized plastic for the electronics 

and automotive industries.

The industry-specific risks consist primarily in the possibility that 

customers could substitute an innovative, more modern product 

for DMT. Another significant risk of Oxxynova’s business ema-

nates from the fact that it generates a large proportion of its unit 

sales with only a few large-scale customers and with custom-

ers in the automotive industry. As a result of the crisis affecting 

the automotive industry, which has manifested in the form of 

declining orders and sales, Oxxynova is currently not generating 

enough revenue to cover its costs. Due to low unit sales quan-

tities, the company’s liquidity was strained through the early 

part of the current year. Based on the company’s financial plan-

ning and its ability to procure financing resources from within 

the ARQUES Group, it is believed that Oxxynova will be able to 

meet all its payment obligations in the future. There are no risks 

that would endanger the company’s continued existence.

The production of DMT at Lülsdorf has been discontinued since 

February 2008. This restructuring measure lowered the risk of 

excess capacities in the area of DMT production and secured 

the long-term profitability of the remaining site. Moreover, 

Oxxynova is conducting a strategic analysis to determine the 

extent to which existing production capacities can be utilized for 

the purpose of new product developments, process conversions 

or the entry into a new market. By entering into a new market 

with a new product, Oxxynova would be able to permanently 

increase its revenues and earnings and render itself less depen-

dent on DMT production as a result of having opened up a new 

business segment. This analysis involves a planning risk regard-

ing the technical feasibility, legality, financing, and acceptance 
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of these new developments. If the introduction of new products 

would not be possible, additional costs would be incurred for 

the Lülsdorf location.

Another fundamental risk of Oxxynova’s business lies in the pos-

sibility that the revenues of customers that run into economic 

difficulties may not be fully eligible for trade credit insurance. As 

is customary in the chemicals industry, the company’s chemical 

plants are subject to periodic inspections by the German Engi-

neering Control Association (TÜV), which necessitate temporary 

production shutdowns. The process of restarting these plants is 

fraught with particular risks that would in the worst case entail 

substantial financial losses for the company, although the prob-

ability that such risks would materialize is deemed to be low. Fur-

thermore, a failure of the company’s IT systems would have far-

reaching consequences for production schedules and customer 

deliveries. Numerous measures have been taken to secure the 

company’s IT infrastructure, so that the probability of occurrence 

of such risks is considered to be low. Yet another industry-spe-

cific risk is represented by the possibility of rising energy costs.

No particular environmental risks are known to exist at the pro-

duction facilities. There is a dependency on the senior execu-

tives in charge of marketing and production due to their specific 

expertise in these areas. Furthermore, Oxxynova is bound until 

2011 by a contractual obligation associated with a sale-and-

leaseback agreement for the Steyerberg site. A residual financial 

risk would come into effect if the plant would be disposed of 

prior to the expiration of the three-year term.

Finally, the new EU legislation relating to the Registration, Evalu-

ation and Authorization of Chemicals (REACH) could result in a 

cost disadvantage compared to non-European markets.

Wanfried-Druck Kalden produces folding boxes and labels. Its 

customers include large corporate groups in the food, consumer 

goods and beverage industries. To this extent, the company 

is subject to the general fluctuations in consumer purchasing 

behavior. The market segments of labels and folding boxes are 

dominated by medium-sized enterprises. There is strong com-

petition among market participants, with the attendant risk of 

declining market prices. There is also strong pressure to invest 

in new, more efficient machines. Wanfried-Druck Kalden has a 

relatively small customer base of about 200 customers, so that 

the loss of one major customer would immediately have a lasting 

impact on its revenues and earnings. The continuing concentra-

tion process among its customers increases the pressure on its 

profit margins. Owing to the limited number of paper and box 

suppliers, there is a certain dependency in the procurement 

market. Price increases in this area can generally be passed on 

to customers only after a certain delay.

As a result of its capital expenditures on infrastructure, machines, 

and computers, Wanfried-Druck Kalden was able to optimize all 

its principal production processes and significantly increase its 

production capacity, thereby laying the foundation for increas-

ing revenues and profit margins. As another advantage, econo-

mies of scale can be exploited in the future. The installed and 

certified management system (ISO9001/2000 Quality Manage-

ment/ISO 14000 Environmental Management) was expanded in 

2008 by the addition of a certified hygiene management system, 

by means of which the risk of packaging contamination can be 

reduced and new customer potential can be developed in the 

food industry. Another unique selling proposition of Wanfried-

Druck Kalden is the international alliance (Joint Specialists in 

Offset Labels, JSO) in the label printing segment. This coopera-

tion was met with enthusiasm from numerous customers and 

has increased the company’s revenues since 2007. In 2009, the 

company’s new orders and order backlog have both been sub-

stantially higher than in the corresponding period of 2008 and 

revenues are up by double digits.

The risks of the company’s future development are situated 

mainly in the market and the competition. In 2008, Wanfried-

Druck Kalden countered these risks by reorganizing its sales 

force and by expanding its existing business relationships by 

taking on new projects and further developing innovative prod-

ucts. It cannot be ruled out that the packaging industry will be 

adversely affected by the recessionary market environment. It 

should be noted, however, that the latest ifo survey results are 

indicative of a surprisingly steady trend. Therefore, Wanfried-

Druck Kalden believes that it will not be as heavily affected by 

the economic situation as other companies, due to the fact that 

it primarily supplies the consumer goods industry. Based on the 

sales measures that have been planned and initiated to date, 

the company believes that it can increase its revenues over the 

previous year, after all.
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van Netten is a confectionery manufacturer based in Dortmund 

that supplies large business chains and discounters mainly with 

trade brand products. The company has a few major customers, 

giving rise to the associated dependencies. The loss of a major 

customer would have a sustained negative impact on van Net-

ten’s business development. The downward pressure on prices 

is high owing to strong competition. Other factors such as the 

rising costs of energy, logistics and raw materials continue to 

put pressure on the company’s cost structure. As a result of the 

economic and financial crisis, van Netten is finding that sup-

pliers and customers are increasingly restrictive with regard to 

their respective receivables. If the trade credit insurers were to 

substantially curtail the limits allotted to van Netten, the subsid-

iary would be in need of additional liquidity assistance. There is 

a certain dependency on employees with specialized expertise 

in product development and sales. van Netten has a broad sup-

plier base at its disposal, so there is hardly any dependency on 

individual suppliers.

The company is in possession of modern production and devel-

opment equipment and is therefore capable of completely sat-

isfying individual customer requests. Accordingly, van Netten 

seeks to expand its existing customer relationships with newly 

developed confectionery, among other things, and to advance 

the internationalization of its operations. van Netten sees con-

siderable opportunities for expansion, above all in the export 

markets.

The Anvis Group (formerly Woco-Michelin-AVS), acquired in 

September 2007, is a primary developer and manufacturer of 

innovative functional solutions for motion stability, comfort, 

and safety, and primarily supplies the automotive industry. The 

company has its own locations and branches close to the auto-

mobile industry in Europe, the United States, Asia, and South 

Africa (joint venture). Accordingly, the company is subject to the 

general economic risks of the automotive industry.

Anvis has a relatively high dependency on the Volkswagen 

Group (VW, Audi, Seat and Skoda together represent approxi-

mately 40% of revenues, including revenues with secondary 

suppliers), as well as on the French automobile manufactur-

ers Renault/Nissan and PSA (15% each), so that the loss of a 

major customer would have an extremely negative impact on 

the development of revenues and earnings. In general, Anvis is 

responding to the sales drop occasioned by the current crisis in 

the automotive industry by implementing rigorous cost reduc-

tions and practicing strict working capital management in all 

areas of the company.

The supplier structure is mainly stable, although some isolated 

failures can be expected due to the current recession. Anvis is 

addressing this source of insecurity by identifying alternative 

suppliers and integrating them into its purchasing processes. 

Because the company had formerly participated in the bundled 

purchasing volumes of its former parent company Michelin, it 

was able to exploit synergies, especially with regard to the pro-

curement of natural rubber. In the meantime, the company has 

had to establish these purchasing capabilities itself. The costs 

of raw materials and supplies used in the production of anti-

vibration systems are fluctuating, depending on demand. At the 

moment, the prices of certain input materials are declining, but 

this advantage can be exploited only after the existing contracts 

have expired. Unfortunately, Anvis’ customers are demanding 

that the price declines observed in the spot markets be passed 

on to them, even though Anvis is not able to achieve these cost 

reductions because the old supply agreements are still in effect. 

This pressure being exerted by customers will have a negative 

impact on the earnings of the Anvis Group. Another problem 

emanates from the weak financial condition of some original 

equipment manufacturers (OEMs). For example, the product 

prices had frequently been agreed on the basis of certain deliv-

ery quantities. Due to the weak state of the automobile industry, 

however, these call-off quantities cannot be achieved in many 

cases. In view of the strained financial condition of some OEMs, 

however, it is questionable whether Anvis would be able to raise 

prices due to decreased volumes.

To counter the price reductions and the pressure on earnings 

resulting from inadequate capacity utilization, the Anvis Group 

is continually pursuing measures to boost productivity, opti-

mize processes and lower work costs on a permanent basis. 

The measures being taken in the French plant in Décize are 

especially intensive and comprehensive because the strain on 

earnings caused by the above-mentioned factors is especially 

severe in this case. In addition to the above-mentioned risks 

(inadequate capacity utilization, economic crisis), the plant in 

Mexico is additionally subject to the risk of fluctuations in the 

exchange rate of the euro to the U.S. dollar.
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Since the beginning of the crisis impacting the automobile indus-

try, banks have adopted a much more restrictive stance with 

regard to extending new loans or renewing existing credit facili-

ties. In general, this trend has made borrowing very difficult on 

the whole and also more expensive. The Anvis Group is exposed 

to the risk that its credit facilities, which are currently available 

in sufficient amounts, may not be renewed, which could lead 

to liquidity problems. Furthermore, a risk-adjusted increase in 

interest rates would raise the company’s funding costs.

Anvis sees business opportunities in the international scope 

of its activities and its participation in generally faster-growing 

markets like China, India and Russia. In addition, Anvis intends 

to step up its sales efforts in the U.S. market, which is in a 

state of transition due to the collapse of GM and Chrysler. By 

virtue of its international position, finally, the automotive sup-

plier stands to benefit from the prevailing trend towards a “world 

car” that would be produced at different locations around the 

world. However, this trend could also pose a risk to Anvis if the 

automobile manufacturers would decide against using Anvis 

as a supplier for their “world cars,” so that Anvis would lose 

important global customers. Because automobile manufactur-

ers select new suppliers only when redesigning a model or intro-

ducing a new model and then remain with them for the duration 

of the product cycle, considerable increases in sales revenues 

can usually be achieved not in the short term, but only in the 

medium term, by way of acquiring new contracts. Additionally, 

there is a dependency on the sales performance of the specific 

models for which components are supplied.

SM Electronic offers, under the “Skymaster” brand, satel-

lite and antenna receivers (digital TV) and electronic acces-

sories for applications including audio, video, home cinema, 

car hi-fi, navigation and multimedia, among others. Based in 

Stapelfeld, near Hamburg, the company has a relatively broad 

customer base, supplying large specialty stores, department 

stores and retail chains in Germany and in other countries of 

Europe. Thus, the company is exposed to the general fluctua-

tions of the consumer climate. The company maintains long-

term contracts with major customers. SM Electronic is continu-

ally adding new areas and sgements to its business activities 

in order to further develop its product portfolio and customer 

base. The German consumer electronics market is character-

ized by a large number of participants and strong price pres-

sure. On the product side, the return rate is relatively high. In its 

purchasing activities, the company is exposed to fluctuations 

in the exchange rate of the U.S. dollar. 

With respect to personnel, the company is subject to dependen-

cies on managerial staff in the areas of purchasing and sales, 

which are typical for the industry. The order flow varies widely 

depending on the season. SM Electronic believes that it can 

take advantage of great business opportunities by optimizing 

its product porftolio and re-orienting its international business. 

By optimizing its internal processes, modernizing its IT systems 

and centralizing its service activities, SM Electronic can improve 

its cost structure considerably and permanently.

Agencia Servicios Mensajeria (ASM) is a Spanish delivery ser-

vices provider that primarily serves large-scale customers in the 

sectors of telecommunications, banks and insurance, automo-

biles, optics, dentistry and pharmaceuticals. Based in Madrid, 

ASM provides courier service, freight forwarding and specialized 

logistical services. ASM has positioned itself successfully in the 

fragmented Spanish market as a niche supplier of delivery ser-

vices for large-scale customers. ASM has a comparatively broad 

customer base. The company boasts an extensive network of 

more than 70 branch offices and field offices in Spain, Portugal 

and Andorra. As a medium-sized enterprise, ASM is looking to 

capitalize on the emerging consolidation of that market to win 

market shares.

As a delivery services provider, ASM is exposed to the general 

fluctuations of the business cycle. As a result of the weak eco-

nomic conditions in the Iberian peninsula, shipping volumes 

have already declined by more than 10%. Within its branch 

network, ASM works with strategic partners, the loss of which 

would compromise the geographical scope of its delivery opera-

tions. The trend of fuel prices has a direct impact on the earn-

ings performance of the entire industry. As a result of the finan-

cial crisis, which is increasingly having an effect in Spain as well, 

ASM could lose the credit facilities that are currently available in 

sufficient amounts, which would lead to liquidity problems.

Based in Sundern, in the Sauerland region of Germany, Carl 

Froh is a manufacturer of precision tubes and components built 

to the customers’ specifications. The company manufactures 

low-tolerance welded precision steel tubes designed to meet 
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special demands. It also develops comprehensive solutions for 

premium-quality components and modules for a wide range of 

applications. By virtue of its locally rooted expertise, Carl Froh is 

capable of manufacturing welded and custom-rolled tubes that 

meet the highest quality demands. It generates almost half its 

revenue with customers in the automotive industry and almost 

one third with industrial customers. As a result of phased-out 

product series and the significant production cuts in the automo-

tive industry, Carl Froh is subject to the risk of orders being can-

celled or reduced on short notice. Carl Froh intends to counter 

these developments by pursuing an expanded product strategy 

and by acquiring new orders in the industrial sector, especially 

for high-quality specialized components.

On the purchasing side, Carl Froh exhibits the typical depen-

dency on strip steel. In general, the cost of raw materials and 

supplies has increased, due in particular to the trend of steel 

prices, which rose further in 2008. Steel prices have fallen con-

siderably since the end of 2008, but stabilized in the second 

quarter of 2009. Since the beginning of the third quarter, prices 

of raw materials have begun to rise again. Carl Froh is frequently 

not able to pass on higher steel prices to customers until after 

a certain delay.

Carl Froh disposes of  production equipment that substantially 

meets the state of the art. The company plans to continually 

renew its production periphery to ensure that pre-production 

and post-production areas are also state-of-the-art. In addition, 

Carl Froh has planned innovation investments in connection 

with new orders. These measures are meant to further improve 

product quality and tap new areas of production, so as to capture 

a larger share of the value chain, in the short-term and medium-

term future. The planned introduction of a new ERP system will 

lead to more effective production planning and therefore also 

to further reductions in the inventories of semi-finished and fin-

ished goods.

Specific investments are needed to further reduce the risk of 

production down times. In support of these goals, the company 

provides regular training and continuing education activities for 

new and existing employees. Employee turnover has been very 

low at Carl Froh for years and the company can rely completely 

on its top performers in key positions. Finally, the company 

plans to improve the age structure of its employees by sponsor-

ing more vocational training programs for younger employees. 

Due to the tough state of the economy and the restrictive lending 

policies of banks, it is currently very difficult to raise financing 

for necessary capital expenditures tied to specific orders. The 

company has initiated counter measures in the form of utiliz-

ing additional supplier credits and imposing shortened working 

hours for its employees.

Gigaset Communications operates in the market for consumer 

terminal devices (telecommunications terminal devices), and 

specifically in the markets for cordless telephones, set-top boxes 

and analog telephones. Gigaset Communications holds a very 

strong position in the retail segment by virtue of its strong brand 

name and its well-balanced product assortment. The company 

ranks fifth in the world in the market for DECT (Digital Enhanced 

Cordless Telecommunications, a cordless telephone standard) 

and is the clear market leader in Western Europe.

The products of Gigaset Communications are widely used and 

appreciated by customers in the retail distribution sector by 

virtue of the company’s strong brand name and innovative 

product portfolio. Because the company normally cooperates 

with such customers on the basis of steady, long-term relation-

ships, the dependency on individual retailers and distributors is 

usually minor. When venturing into new markets, however, the 

company may be subject to greater dependencies on individual 

buyers, especially at first. For its purchasing of raw materials 

and supplies, the company generally works with at least two 

suppliers. Gigaset Communications has established a Sup-

plier Management Center in Shanghai to manage and control 

its cooperation with suppliers in Asia. Gigaset seeks to avoid 

becoming dependent on individual suppliers with respect to 

prices, unit quantities and innovations by cultivating a broad 

supplier base. Nonetheless, the company is partially depen-

dent on individual suppliers. Furthermore, a large number of 

components required for the company’s production operations 

are purchased in the U.S. dollar zone, giving rise to currency 

risks. Such risks are hedged primarily by means of forward 

exchange deals. Finally, there is a risk associated with the fact 

that Gigaset’s production activities are concentrated at a single 

manufacturing site in Bocholt.
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Gigaset Communications will be allowed to use the renowned 

Siemens brand name for its products until 2010. Thereafter, 

there is a risk that the loss of licensing rights to the Siemens 

brand name could have a negative impact on the company’s 

brand familiarity and market position, especially in regions 

outside of Europe, due to the strong international competition 

that prevails in those regions. The company intends to engage in 

targeted PR and marketing activities to familiarize a broad swath 

of the public with the Gigaset brand name and thereby protect 

its market position.

The company counters the risk of receivables losses by carrying 

trade credit insurance. Based on historical experience data, the 

risk of receivables losses is considered to be low. Gigaset Com-

munications is subject to relatively strong seasonal liquidity fluc-

tuations. The company has adequate cash, current receivables 

and assets to meet its current payment obligations. As a general 

rule, the company is subject to the risk of general price erosion 

for its product assortment and the risk that its market will shrink 

in the medium-term future.

If the budgeted cost savings and restructuring measures cannot 

be achieved to the planned extent within the planned period of 

time, Gigaset will be subject to the risk of uncovered overhead 

costs, which have a negative impact on its earnings as well. If 

the company’s production capacity is not fully utilized due to 

weaker sales amid the current economic situation, additional 

earnings risks could arise, especially in the highly automated 

plant in Bocholt.

Technological progress, especially in the area of Voice over 

IP telephony, could necessitate substantial investments in 

Research & Development (R&D). Gigaset Communications is 

countering such risks in a proactive manner by setting suitable 

priorities for its R&D program.

Gigaset Communications sees business opportunities in the 

tapping of regional growth markets (North America and Asia), 

using the established Gigaset brand and the existing worldwide 

distribution network for this purpose. The company possesses 

ample specialized expertise in Research & Development to meet 

the rising technological demands of the market and even to 

come out with innovative new products itself. Nonetheless, the 

company is generally subject to risks associated with project 

delays in Research & Development, which are to be considered 

low in Gigaset’s case, however. Moreover, Gigaset Communi-

cations sees great potential in the growing market for set-top 

boxes. In its production operations, the company benefits from 

his well-established value chain and logistical operations, which 

are understood, especially in Europe, to be something that dif-

ferentiates the company from its competitors that produce their 

products outside of Europe, due to delivery time and flexibility 

considerations.

Gigaset Communications sees additional business opportuni-

ties in pursuing partnerships with contract manufacturers. Under 

such partnerships, the products of other manufacturers would be 

sold under the Siemens label or different products would be com-

bined under the Gigaset brand name over the next two years.

Finally, the Bocholt production facility has been honored on numer-

ous occasions for its highly efficient production processes.

Auto Windscreens is engaged in the business of repairing 

and replacing automotive glass. This sector is influenced by 

a number of different factors, including weather conditions, 

changes in automobile fleets and speed limits. Extreme weather 

conditions such as a bitterly cold winter can provoke tremen-

dous demand for windshield repairs and replacements. The fre-

quency of damage is  linked to the number of kilometers driven, 

which is influenced, in turn, by fuel prices.

The customers of Auto Windscreens are primarily composed 

of insurance companies, corporate fleet operators and leasing 

companies. Changes in automotive insurance glass policies 

could induce the insured parties to exercise restraint in pur-

chasing needed windshield repairs. Now that it can operate as 

an independent company, Auto Windscreens is in a position 

to acquire additional insurance companies as customers and 

thereby grow its business substantially. The company was not 

able to pursue this strategy before the acquisition by ARQUES 

because it belonged to an insurance group.

On the purchasing side, Auto Windscreens works with a broad 

base of suppliers. Furthermore, the company itself produces 

about a third of the automotive glass it uses in its own produc-

tion facility in Chesterfield, UK. The automotive glass specialist 

regularly provides training courses to its employees to ensure 

that they are always able to provide professional-quality wind-

shield repair services.
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As a consequence of the spin-off from the corporate structures 

of its former owner, the company is subject to the typical carve-

out risks related to the installation and configuration of new IT 

systems, new management functions like controlling depart-

ments and administrative structures.

Auto Windscreens finds itself still in a loss-making situation. The 

principal risk is that the restructuring measures taken with the 

goal of making the company profitable will not yield the desired 

results in time.

British School of Motoring (BSM) is the biggest driving school 

in Great Britain. Its 2,000 driving instructors and 700 assistant 

instructors (trainees) provide instruction to about 130,000 people 

every year. In addition to the traditional customer base of private 

individuals, BSM also trains driving instructors and provides 

driving instruction to companies and government agencies. As 

a result of the tough economic situation, the number of driver’s 

license examinations has recently dipped somewhat. Due to the 

population growth in Great Britain, however, it can basically be 

expected that the proportion of 17-year-olds who wish to obtain 

driver’s licenses will hold steady or increase slightly. Because it is 

not obligatory to attend a driving school in Great Britain, however, 

there is a certain risk that more and more young people would 

rely on their parents to teach them how to drive, so that the pro-

portion of driving instruction obtained from driving schools would 

decrease accordingly. British lawmakers are planning to introduce 

certain legal requirements for obtaining a driver’s license, includ-

ing night driving for example, which can only be done with trained 

driving instructors. This would lead to an increase in the number of 

driving instruction hours taken. Another point of debate involves 

raising the minimum age for obtaining a driver’s license from 17 to 

18 years old. If the minimum age were to be raised, BSM would 

experience a substantial drop in revenues in the year in which 

such a law took effect. Furthermore, there is a low-probability risk 

that only fully trained driving instructors would be allowed to give 

instruction, meaning that trainees would not be able to do so. 

Such a change would immediately cause the demand for driving 

instructors to rise throughout the industry and have a disadvanta-

geous effect on BSM’s cost structure. 

In the past summer, BSM converted its fleet of driving school 

cars to Fiat models. For the most part, the company will train its 

students in the Fiat 500 (2008 Car of the Year), which is espe-

cially well-liked by young drivers. Thanks to the new partnership 

and the availability of a modern auto, BSM will be able to win 

additional market shares. Furthermore, Fiat plans to launch a 

major marketing campaign in connection with the model change, 

which will likely benefit BSM as well. As the only driving school 

in Britain with a nationwide network of branches, BSM is in a 

position to quickly serve new regions by opening new branches. 

Such a strategy is additionally favored by the currently low level 

of property rents.

FINANCIAL RISKS

Interest rate, currency 
and liquidity risks
ARQUES Industries AG continually optimizes its corporate 

financing system and limits its financing risks in order to pre-

serve the Group’s financial independence. The need for financ-

ing fundamentally exposes the Group to the risk that the agreed 

terms of financing would be changed by the financing partner 

to the detriment of ARQUES Industries AG and these changes 

would have to be accepted as a result of liquidity constraints 

or would themselves give rise to such constraints. This risk has 

been heightened considerably by the financial crisis that has 

been in effect since mid-2008. The financing risks are monitored 

by the risk management system.

The companies of the ARQUES Group generate income in 

foreign currencies. The associated foreign currency risks are 

generally hedged by means of currency-matched financing of 

the international activities in question. Changes in capital market 

interest rates could lead to changes in the market value of fixed-

income securities and unsecured receivables and in the plan 

assets used to fund pension obligations. ARQUES enters into 

customary banking transactions to hedge its interest rate risks 

on a case-by-case basis.

To hedge its cash flow risks and protect the Group’s liquidity, 

ARQUES employs various instruments for refinancing and to 

hedge its receivables, including e.g. factoring and credit default 

insurance. 

Interest rate, currency and liquidity risks are generally managed 

by the individual subsidiaries locally in consultation with the 

Corporate Finance Department. 

Strong exchange rate fluctuations, above all the U.S. dollar vis-

à-vis the euro, which could not be fully hedged in time by means 

of forward exchange deals led to losses on currency translation 
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and merchandise sales for some subsidiaries, thereby adversely 

impacting the earnings of those subsidiaries. 

ARQUES in the global economic crisis
In these times of global economic crisis, the ARQUES Group is 

exposed to considerable burdens which were not foreseeable 

only a few months ago.

Operational development of 
the Group companies
Due to the operating activities of its subsidiaries, ARQUES is 

directly impacted by the economic downturn, the financial crisis, 

and the associated credit crunch. Therefore, restructuring and 

reorganization is considerably more difficult than in the past. 

Unforeseeable events could have an extremely negative impact 

on the performance of even those companies that have already 

made good progress in their restructuring efforts. This pertains 

both to the operating performance of companies as well as 

financing via bank lines of credit, factoring, or credit insurance. 

Those companies that have already optimized their costs will 

have less room to make further cost cuts in the face of suddenly 

decreasing demand for their products and services. 

Banks and trade credit insurers have been considerably more 

restrictive since the beginning of the financial crisis. This has 

made debt financing much more difficult. In addition, borrowing 

costs have risen. ARQUES is countering the considerably more 

difficult financing situation through the intensive efforts of the 

specialists of the ARQUES Task Force to implement individual 

measures for each subsidiary, such as further improvements in 

working capital management, the restructuring of financing pro-

viders, renegotiations with banks, customers, and suppliers and 

the introduction of alternative financing vehicles such as sale-

and-lease-back transactions. 

In addition, the financial crisis and the resulting deterioration 

in general economic conditions led to unforeseeable order 

decreases and cancellations at some subsidiaries, as their 

customers in turn are unable to run their production facilities 

at full capacity and are postponing new capital expenditures. 

The unit sales volumes of the automotive industry in particular 

suffered a massive collapse in the second half of 2008. The 

affected ARQUES subsidiaries responded to these develop-

ments by adjusting capacity, introducing cost reduction pro-

grams such as workforce measures, and intensifying efforts on 

the part of the ARQUES task force. Some subsidiaries have 

introduced short-time working schemes or are considering 

short-term implementation.

The financial crisis has made it more difficult to sell companies, 

and the sales prices that could be realized in the recent past 

have also fallen considerably. 

ARQUES has responded to the difficult economic conditions trig-

gered by the financial crisis and the tremendous uncertainty in 

the market for corporate transactions also by selling off individual 

portfolio companies at unfavorable terms, if the ability to restruc-

ture those companies successfully has been rendered consider-

ably more difficult or more expensive and if ARQUES was able to 

reduce the level of risk in its portfolio by this means. 

As a result of the imponderability of the future economic outlook 

and the continued volatility of business valuations in the capital 

markets, ARQUES has opted not to publish the Net Asset Value 

(NAV) of its investment portfolio, because in the current, excep-

tional situation, it would not provide a reliable indication of the 

portfolio’s value.

Liquidity of the Group companies
Most of the subsidiaries of the ARQUES Group are often suffer-

ing from strained liquidity, above all at the time of the acquisi-

tion and in the initial restructuring phase, resulting in additional 

liquidity needs which are first satisfied by any restructuring con-

tribution on the part of the seller, by selling any assets that are 

not required for the subsidiary’s operations, by the subsidiary’s 

own operating cash flow, by borrowing, or directly by ARQUES. 

Thus, one of the first restructuring tasks of the ARQUES Task 

Force is to free up cash for use by the subsidiary. 

ARQUES manages the liquidity requirements of the subsidiaries 

by means of careful liquidity controlling. Like any other company, 

however, ARQUES is subject to the risk of unforeseen financing 

requirements during the course of the subsidiary’s affiliation with 

the Group, whether because the general economic environment 

or industry situation deteriorates significantly or because the 

subsidiary loses important customers, its suppliers run into criti-

cal bottlenecks, negotiations with trade unions and works coun-

cils are not successful and therefore earnings do not improve as 
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expected, or for other reasons. Furthermore, former financing 

partners of the subsidiary could use the acquisition by ARQUES 

as an excuse to discontinue the business relationship or impose 

unreasonable terms and conditions on further cooperation. As a 

result, ARQUES may have to use its own resources to cover any 

liquidity shortfalls due to the lack of other financing sources.

Considerably more restrictive policies on the part of trade credit 

insurers would pose a liquidity risk for most of ARQUES’ sub-

sidiaries, because the reduction or cancellation of trade credit 

insurance usually prompts suppliers to shorten their payment 

terms considerably. This would in turn increase the liquidity 

needs of the affected subsidiaries. If the cumulative amount of 

liquidity needs were to increase, the holding company may find 

it necessary to quickly sell some Group companies in order to 

concentrate available liquidity on the company’s core portfolio.

The subsidiaries generally manage these liquidity risks and 

review liquidity planning and the financing structure locally in 

consultation with the Corporate Finance Department.

Risk management at ARQUES 
Industries AG
The debts of the holding company or the guarantees or assur-

ances it has issued, either in connection with corporate acquisi-

tions or at a later time, could have a direct negative impact on 

the business performance or even the continued existence of 

the holding company as a going concern.

Debts of the parent company
At the balance sheet date, ARQUES Industries AG had access to 

three credit facilities, two of which have already been extended 

until March 31 and April 30, 2010, respectively. The third loan for 

EUR 10 million has been extended until November 15, 2009, at 

which point it will be repaid. 

Guarantees of the parent company
ARQUES Industries AG has issued guarantees for purchase 

price payments in the past. In addition, the Group parent has 

issued guarantees or payment assurances on behalf of its sub-

sidiaries. Claims asserted in close succession and in larger 

amounts based on these guarantees and payment assur-

ances, which are currently regarded as contingent liabilities, 

could pose a threat to the continued existence of the parent 

company and ultimately threaten the entire Group.

Litigation
In July 2009, the European Commission levied an overall file 

of EUR 61.12 million on various European companies operat-

ing in the calcium carbide segment, as a result of its anti-trust 

investigations. A total fine of EUR 13.3 million was levied on 

the companies SKW Stahl-Metallurgie Holding AG, ARQUES 

Industries AG and SKW Stahl-Metallurgie GmbH, each bearing 

joint and several liability for the overall fine. Upon completing 

its review, ARQUES will decide whether and how it will appeal 

the fine and/or the joint and several liability clauses.

Risk management measures
In addition to implementing a large number of concrete cost 

reduction measures in the portfolio companies, including intro-

ducing short-time working schemes and even layoffs, ARQUES 

has reviewed its entire portfolio with the aim of identifying those 

subsidiaries whose reorganization would be too cost-intensive 

in times of a global economic crisis. In the meantime, ARQUES 

has divested itself of these subsidiaries and accepted the 

resulting large book losses; however, we continue to monitor 

the respective opportunities and risks in the remaining portfolio. 

As a result of these sales, ARQUES was able to avoid having 

to provide additional financial assistance to these subsidiaries, 

which would have been otherwise unavoidable from an eco-

nomic perspective. 

In response to the general economic conditions, ARQUES has 

initiated and largely implemented various steps to reduce costs 

in the holding company as well. The plan is to reduce the holding 

company’s costs by more than 50% compared to 2008. ARQUES 

will achieve this reduction by eliminating an appreciable number 

of jobs and by opting not to purchase services. 

In addition, ARQUES has already successfully renegotiated out-

standing purchase price installments or payment terms and will 

continue to do so, if and to the extent that justified warranty 

claims can be asserted or if such negotiations would be neces-

sary in light of the business performance of the portfolio com-

panies.

Even in these economically difficult times, some parties have a 

concrete interest in purchasing individual portfolio companies 

from ARQUES and intensive negotiations regarding their sale 

are currently underway.
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ARQUES is currently conducting intensive talks with potential 

investors and lenders on the subject of increasing the Group’s 

existing equity and debt in order to bring about the long-term 

stabilization of the Group.

TAX RISKS
Like all other operating risks, tax risks are isolated at the level 

of the individual subsidiaries and are not aggregated at the 

holding company level, e.g. by means of a fiscal unit for corpo-

rate taxation purposes or Group-level taxation. By exploiting the 

frequently available tax loss carryforwards, ARQUES succeeds 

in obtaining below-average rates of taxation. Income from the 

sale subsidiaries is still largely tax-exempt. ARQUES minimizes 

any legal risks by obtaining expert tax opinions from recognized 

law firms, auditing firms and other external experts on a regular 

basis.

Events after the balance sheet date 
On July 20, 2009, ARQUES Industries AG sold its shares in tiscon 

AG. Until then, ARQUES had held about 60% of the equity in 

tiscon AG. The buyers are the KCK Association from Russia and 

other investors. KCK Association is represented in Germany by 

GreenGold AG and KCK Ökologie GmbH, Berlin. 

At the Supervisory Board meeting of July 20, 2009, Michael 

Hütten was appointed to the Executive Board, effective July 21, 

2009. At the Supervisory Board meeting of August 4, 2009, Hans 

Gisbert Ulmke was appointed Chairman of the Executive Board 

and the Executive Board divisions were reorganized as follows: 

Hans Gisbert Ulmke, Executive Board Chairman, Finance, 

Human Resources, Legal, Press, Investor Relations

Felix Frohn-Bernau, Acquisitions and Exits

Michael Hütten, Operations, Subsidiary Controlling

Bernd Schell, Gigaset Communications

In July 2009, the European Commission levied an overall fine of 

EUR 61.12 million on various European companies operating in 

the calcium carbide sector, in the wake of its anti-trust investiga-

tions. In this regard, a fine totaling EUR 13.3 million was imposed 

on SKW Stahl-Metallurgie Holding AG, ARQUES Industries AG 

and SKW Stahl-Metallurgie GmbH, each company bearing joint 

and several liability for the fine. After completing its review of the 

matter, ARQUES will decide whether and how it will appeal the 

fine and/or the joint and several liability clauses.

In early August, ARQUES sold its shares in the Actebis Group to 

Droege Capital GmbH, Düsseldorf. The transaction is pending, 

subject to the approval of the cartel authorities, among other 

authorities, which is expected by late September or early 

October 2009.

At the annual shareholders’ meeting of ARQUES Industries AG 

held in Starnberg on August 5, 2009, the shareholders repre-

sented at the meeting accepted most of the management’s pro-

posals. The shareholders represented at the meeting approved 

those agenda items that pertained to the ratification of the 

actions of the Executive Board and Supervisory Board, the reso-

lution on the utilization of profits, the election of the independent 

auditor and the creation of Authorized Capital and Contingent 

Capital. 

As for the agenda item “New Election of the Supervisory Board,” 

only Dr. Rudolf Falter received the two-thirds majority required 

by the articles of incorporation and bylaws. The annual share-

holders’ meeting ended without having elected a new Supervi-

sory Board with enough members to constitute a quorum. The 

operating business and the continuity of the strategic further 

development of ARQUES Industries AG will be assured by the 

Executive Board. In accordance with the German Stock Corpo-

rations Act, a new Supervisory Board with enough members to 

constitute a quorum will be determined by the competent court 

or by a further shareholders’ meeting.
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Forecast report
The year 2009 is a year of consolidation for ARQUES Industries 

AG. In the first half of the year, we focused our activities on 

stabilizing cash flows and reducing risks in our portfolio of sub-

sidiaries. Despite great restructuring progress in the individual 

companies, we could not achieve our earnings targets due to 

the sharp fall-off in demand for the respective products, which 

was caused by the general state of the economy. Because 

banks, credit insurance companies and factoring companies 

continued to adopt a restrictive stance, ARQUES was com-

pelled to dispose of certain subsidiaries for less than their book 

values. These disposals were all the more regrettable if one con-

siders the fact that we could not capitalize on the restructuring 

successes that are typical of our business model. The general 

attention to risk exposure is a matter of importance not only for 

ARQUES, but also to potential buyers of companies, which are 

becoming increasingly risk-averse. This development leads to 

lower sale prices. Although the number of projects under way 

in the Acquisitions Department is growing, we have become 

significantly more risk-conscious than before and are therefore 

intensifying the reviews conducted in connection with poten-

tial acquisition targets. This circumstance raises the cost of an 

acquisition significantly. In view of the experiences made in the 

last few years, however, we consider such intensive reviews to 

be absolutely necessary. 

Economic experts are currently seeing a growing number of 

positive signs regarding the future development of the economy. 

Nonetheless, we assume that our subsidiaries will not feel the 

positive effects of an anticipated economic recovery until the 

middle of 2010. That being said, we have observed a signifi-

cant increase in new orders. Due to the long-term horizon of 

these orders, however, especially in the automobile industry, 

the corresponding revenue increases will be realized only in 

2010. Therefore, we believe that our companies will be able to 

at least reach the already announced break-even point in 2010 

at the earliest. 

While the risk profile of ARQUES Industries has improved appre-

ciably, a reliable forecast of developments in the second half 

of 2009 is not possible under the circumstances. The manag-

ing directors of the holding company and of the subsidiaries 

are as determined as ever to further stabilize the Group’s eco-

nomic situation and generate positive earnings. We are planning 

further acquisitions and sales that will have a positive impact on 

our earnings performance. In view of the current status of the 

corresponding negotiations, we are not yet able at this time to 

comment on the specific effects.
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Revenues	 612,457	 1,748,730	 2,361,187	 736,621	 1,891,166	 2,627,787

Change in inventories of finished and unfinished goods 	 -4,688	 161	 -4,527	 5,979	 3,519	 9,498

Other internal production capitalized 	 9,402	 611	 10,013	 5,896	 269	 6,165

Other operating income 	 49,104	 12,385	 61,489	 46,749	 13,181	 59,930

Purchased goods and services	 -353,906	 -1,626,743	 -1,980,649	 -465,170	 -1,786,365	 -2,251,535

Personnel expenses	 -192,003	 -51,094	 -243,097	 -179,350	 -50,313	 -229,663

Other operating expenses 	 -163,323	 -57,098	 -220,421	 -123,497	 -53,519	 -177,016

EBITDA	 -42,957	 26,952	 -16,005	 27,228	 17,938	 45,166

Depreciation and amortization	 -36,698	 -9,727	 -46,425	 -30,577	 -9,321	 -39,898

Impairment losses	 -14,084	 -38,137	 -52,221	 -24,609	 0	 -24,609

EBIT	 -93,739	 -20,912	 -114,651	 -27,958	 8,617	 -19,341

Income/expenses from non-current assets accounted for by the equity method 	 180	 15	 195	 546	 51	 597

Other interest and similar income 	 1,646	 334	 1,980	 2,325	 724	 3,049

Interest and similar expenses 	 -12,152	 -7,240	 -19,392	 -8,593	 -9,729	 -18,322

Net financial expenses	 -10,326	 -6,891	 -17,217	 -5,722	 -8,954	 -14,676

Income/expenses from ordinary activities 	 -104,065	 -27,803	 -131,868	 -33,680	 -337	 -34,017

Income taxes	 17,627	 -2,770	 14,857	 -2,042	 -2,071	 -4,113

Consolidated net loss	 -86,438	 -30,573	 -117,011	 -35,722	 -2,408	 -38,130

  thereof attributable to minority interests 	 -421	 -1,147	 -1,568	 -938	 -941	 -1,879

  thereof attributable to shareholders of ARQUES Industries AG	 -86,017	 -29,426	 -115,443	 -34,784	 -1,467	 -36,251

Earnings per share 	 	 	 	 	 	

 - Basic earnings per share, in EUR	 -3.26	 -1.11	 -4.37	 -1.28	 -0.09	 -1.37

 - Diluted earnings per share, in EUR	 -3.26	 -1.11	 -4.37	 -1.28	 -0.09	 -1.37

	 	 	 01/01 – 06/30/2009	 	 	 01/01 – 06/30/2008

	 	 Continuing	 Discontinued 	 	 Continuing	 Discontinued	
EUR’000	 	 operations	 operations	 Total	 operations	 operations	 Total

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF arques industries ag
Consolidated Income Statement for the Period from January 1  to June 30, 2009

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the Period from January 1 to June 30, 2009

Consolidated net loss	 	 -86,438	 -30,573	 -117,011	 -35,722	 -2,408	 -38,130

Currency translation differences	 	 2,970	 137	 3,107	 918	 150	 1,068

Change in market value of available-for-sale securities 	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0

Other income and expenses recognized directly in equity 	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0

Income and expenses recognized directly in equity 	 2,970	 137	 3,107	 918	 150	 1,068

Total recognized income and expenses 	 	 -83,468	 -30,436	 -113,904	 -34,804	 -2,258	 -37,062

thereof attributable to minority interests 	 	 -421	 -1,147	 -1,568	 -938	 -941	 -1,879

thereof attributable to shareholders of ARQUES Industries AG 	 -83,047	 -29,289	 -112,336	 -33,866	 -1,317	 -35,183

	 	 	 01/01 – 06/30/2009	 	 	 01/01 – 06/30/2008

	 	 Continuing	 Discontinued 	 	 Continuing	 Discontinued	
EUR’000	 	 operations	 operations	 Total	 operations	 operations	 Total
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Revenues	 612,457	 1,748,730	 2,361,187	 736,621	 1,891,166	 2,627,787

Change in inventories of finished and unfinished goods 	 -4,688	 161	 -4,527	 5,979	 3,519	 9,498

Other internal production capitalized 	 9,402	 611	 10,013	 5,896	 269	 6,165

Other operating income 	 49,104	 12,385	 61,489	 46,749	 13,181	 59,930

Purchased goods and services	 -353,906	 -1,626,743	 -1,980,649	 -465,170	 -1,786,365	 -2,251,535

Personnel expenses	 -192,003	 -51,094	 -243,097	 -179,350	 -50,313	 -229,663

Other operating expenses 	 -163,323	 -57,098	 -220,421	 -123,497	 -53,519	 -177,016

EBITDA	 -42,957	 26,952	 -16,005	 27,228	 17,938	 45,166

Depreciation and amortization	 -36,698	 -9,727	 -46,425	 -30,577	 -9,321	 -39,898

Impairment losses	 -14,084	 -38,137	 -52,221	 -24,609	 0	 -24,609

EBIT	 -93,739	 -20,912	 -114,651	 -27,958	 8,617	 -19,341

Income/expenses from non-current assets accounted for by the equity method 	 180	 15	 195	 546	 51	 597

Other interest and similar income 	 1,646	 334	 1,980	 2,325	 724	 3,049

Interest and similar expenses 	 -12,152	 -7,240	 -19,392	 -8,593	 -9,729	 -18,322

Net financial expenses	 -10,326	 -6,891	 -17,217	 -5,722	 -8,954	 -14,676

Income/expenses from ordinary activities 	 -104,065	 -27,803	 -131,868	 -33,680	 -337	 -34,017

Income taxes	 17,627	 -2,770	 14,857	 -2,042	 -2,071	 -4,113

Consolidated net loss	 -86,438	 -30,573	 -117,011	 -35,722	 -2,408	 -38,130

  thereof attributable to minority interests 	 -421	 -1,147	 -1,568	 -938	 -941	 -1,879

  thereof attributable to shareholders of ARQUES Industries AG	 -86,017	 -29,426	 -115,443	 -34,784	 -1,467	 -36,251

Earnings per share 	 	 	 	 	 	

 - Basic earnings per share, in EUR	 -3.26	 -1.11	 -4.37	 -1.28	 -0.09	 -1.37

 - Diluted earnings per share, in EUR	 -3.26	 -1.11	 -4.37	 -1.28	 -0.09	 -1.37

	 	 	 01/01 – 06/30/2009	 	 	 01/01 – 06/30/2008

	 	 Continuing	 Discontinued 	 	 Continuing	 Discontinued	
EUR’000	 	 operations	 operations	 Total	 operations	 operations	 Total

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF arques industries ag
Consolidated Income Statement for the Period from January 1  to June 30, 2009

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the Period from January 1 to June 30, 2009

Consolidated net loss	 	 -86,438	 -30,573	 -117,011	 -35,722	 -2,408	 -38,130

Currency translation differences	 	 2,970	 137	 3,107	 918	 150	 1,068

Change in market value of available-for-sale securities 	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0

Other income and expenses recognized directly in equity 	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0

Income and expenses recognized directly in equity 	 2,970	 137	 3,107	 918	 150	 1,068

Total recognized income and expenses 	 	 -83,468	 -30,436	 -113,904	 -34,804	 -2,258	 -37,062

thereof attributable to minority interests 	 	 -421	 -1,147	 -1,568	 -938	 -941	 -1,879

thereof attributable to shareholders of ARQUES Industries AG 	 -83,047	 -29,289	 -112,336	 -33,866	 -1,317	 -35,183

	 	 	 01/01 – 06/30/2009	 	 	 01/01 – 06/30/2008

	 	 Continuing	 Discontinued 	 	 Continuing	 Discontinued	
EUR’000	 	 operations	 operations	 Total	 operations	 operations	 Total



34

Revenues	 311,501	 816,977	 1,128,478	 372,718	 907,100	 1,279,818

Change in inventories of finished and unfinished goods	 -1,699	 520	 -1,179	 3,009	 3,519	 6,528

Other internal production capitalized	 5,029	 298	 5,327	 2,870	 150	 3,020

Other operating income	 21,925	 4,717	 26,642	 33,380	 6,474	 39,854

Purchased goods and services	 -179,368	 -759,998	 -939,366	 -235,021	 -858,613	 -1,093,634

Personnel expenses	 -82,359	 -25,839	 -108,198	 -90,485	 -25,431	 -115,916

Other operating expenses	 -85,514	 -28,469	 -113,983	 -64,697	 -25,122	 -89,819

EBITDA	 -10,485	 8,206	 -2,279	 21,774	 8,077	 29,851

Depreciation and amortization	 -19,061	 -4,909	 -23,970	 -16,100	 -4,698	 -20,798

Impairment losses	 -12,773	 -38,137	 -50,910	 -24,609	 0	 -24,609

EBIT	 -42,319	 -34,840	 -77,159	 -18,935	 3,379	 -15,556

Income/expenses from non-current assets accounted for by the equity method 	 -64	 3	 -61	 175	 39	 214

Other interest and similar income 	 502	 151	 653	 1,494	 342	 1,836

Interest and similar expenses	 -7,042	 -3,097	 -10,139	 -4,326	 -4,804	 -9,130

Net financial expenses	 -6,604	 -2,943	 -9,547	 -2,657	 -4,423	 -7,080

Income/expenses from ordinary activities 	 -48,923	 -37,783	 -86,706	 -27,722	 -10,106	 -22,636

Income taxes	 9,406	 -1,189	 8,217	 -498	 -170	 -668

Consolidated net loss	 -39,517	 -38,972	 -78,489	 -28,220	 -10,276	 -23,304

  thereof attributable to minority interests 	 -168	 -1,291	 -1,459	 -411	 -616	 -1,027

  thereof attributable to shareholders of ARQUES Industries AG	 -39,349	 -37,681	 -77,030	 -27,809	 -9,660	 -22,277

Earnings per share	 	 	 	 	 	

 - Basic earnings, in EUR	 -1.49	 -1.43	 -2.92	 -0.45	 -0.39	 -0.84

 - Diluted earnings, in EUR	 -1.49	 -1.43	 -2.92	 -0.45	 -0.39	 -0.84

	 	 	 04/01 – 06/30/2009	 	 	 04/01 – 06/30/2008

	 	 Continuing	 Discontinued 	 	 Continuing	 Discontinued	
EUR’000	 	 operations	 operations	 Total	 operations	 operations	 Total

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the Period from April 1 to June 30, 2009

Consolidated Income Statement for the Period from April 1 to June  30, 2009

Consolidated net loss	 	 -39,517	 -38,972	 -78,489	 -28,220	 -10,276	 -23,304

Currency translation differences	 	 1,622	 148	 1,770	 -9	 162	 153

Change in market value of available-for-sale securities	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0

Other income and expenses recognized directly in equity	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0

Income and expenses recognized directly in equity	 1,622	 148	 1,770	 -9	 162	 153

Total recognized income and expenses	 	 -37,895	 -38,824	 -76,719	 -28,229	 -10,114	 -23,151

thereof attributable to minority interests	 	 -168	 -1,291	 -1,459	 -411	 -616	 -1,027

thereof attributable to shareholders of ARQUES Industries AG 	 -37,727	 -37,533	 -75,260	 -27,818	 -9,498	 -22,124

	 	 	 04/01 – 06/30/2009	 	 	 04/01 – 06/30/2009

	 	 Continuing	 Discontinued 	 	 Continuing	 Discontinued	
EUR’000	 	 operations	 operations	 Total	 operations	 operations	 Total
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Revenues	 311,501	 816,977	 1,128,478	 372,718	 907,100	 1,279,818

Change in inventories of finished and unfinished goods	 -1,699	 520	 -1,179	 3,009	 3,519	 6,528

Other internal production capitalized	 5,029	 298	 5,327	 2,870	 150	 3,020

Other operating income	 21,925	 4,717	 26,642	 33,380	 6,474	 39,854

Purchased goods and services	 -179,368	 -759,998	 -939,366	 -235,021	 -858,613	 -1,093,634

Personnel expenses	 -82,359	 -25,839	 -108,198	 -90,485	 -25,431	 -115,916

Other operating expenses	 -85,514	 -28,469	 -113,983	 -64,697	 -25,122	 -89,819

EBITDA	 -10,485	 8,206	 -2,279	 21,774	 8,077	 29,851

Depreciation and amortization	 -19,061	 -4,909	 -23,970	 -16,100	 -4,698	 -20,798

Impairment losses	 -12,773	 -38,137	 -50,910	 -24,609	 0	 -24,609

EBIT	 -42,319	 -34,840	 -77,159	 -18,935	 3,379	 -15,556

Income/expenses from non-current assets accounted for by the equity method 	 -64	 3	 -61	 175	 39	 214

Other interest and similar income 	 502	 151	 653	 1,494	 342	 1,836

Interest and similar expenses	 -7,042	 -3,097	 -10,139	 -4,326	 -4,804	 -9,130

Net financial expenses	 -6,604	 -2,943	 -9,547	 -2,657	 -4,423	 -7,080

Income/expenses from ordinary activities 	 -48,923	 -37,783	 -86,706	 -27,722	 -10,106	 -22,636

Income taxes	 9,406	 -1,189	 8,217	 -498	 -170	 -668

Consolidated net loss	 -39,517	 -38,972	 -78,489	 -28,220	 -10,276	 -23,304

  thereof attributable to minority interests 	 -168	 -1,291	 -1,459	 -411	 -616	 -1,027

  thereof attributable to shareholders of ARQUES Industries AG	 -39,349	 -37,681	 -77,030	 -27,809	 -9,660	 -22,277

Earnings per share	 	 	 	 	 	

 - Basic earnings, in EUR	 -1.49	 -1.43	 -2.92	 -0.45	 -0.39	 -0.84

 - Diluted earnings, in EUR	 -1.49	 -1.43	 -2.92	 -0.45	 -0.39	 -0.84

	 	 	 04/01 – 06/30/2009	 	 	 04/01 – 06/30/2008

	 	 Continuing	 Discontinued 	 	 Continuing	 Discontinued	
EUR’000	 	 operations	 operations	 Total	 operations	 operations	 Total

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the Period from April 1 to June 30, 2009

Consolidated Income Statement for the Period from April 1 to June  30, 2009

Consolidated net loss	 	 -39,517	 -38,972	 -78,489	 -28,220	 -10,276	 -23,304

Currency translation differences	 	 1,622	 148	 1,770	 -9	 162	 153

Change in market value of available-for-sale securities	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0

Other income and expenses recognized directly in equity	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0

Income and expenses recognized directly in equity	 1,622	 148	 1,770	 -9	 162	 153

Total recognized income and expenses	 	 -37,895	 -38,824	 -76,719	 -28,229	 -10,114	 -23,151

thereof attributable to minority interests	 	 -168	 -1,291	 -1,459	 -411	 -616	 -1,027

thereof attributable to shareholders of ARQUES Industries AG 	 -37,727	 -37,533	 -75,260	 -27,818	 -9,498	 -22,124

	 	 	 04/01 – 06/30/2009	 	 	 04/01 – 06/30/2009

	 	 Continuing	 Discontinued 	 	 Continuing	 Discontinued	
EUR’000	 	 operations	 operations	 Total	 operations	 operations	 Total
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Non-current assets 	 	 	

Intangible assets	 	 68,788	 133,629

Property, plant and equipment	 	 227,667	 317,028

Investment property	 	 232	 238

Non-current financial assets accounted for by the equity method	 	 4,999	 5,000

Financial assets	 	 3,156	 3,190

Other non-current assets	 	 16	 85

Deferred tax assets	 10,914	 16,864

Total non-current assets 	 	 315,772	 476,034

Current assets 	 	

Inventories	 	 104,553	 378,862

Receivables from percentage of completion 	 	 2,184	 3,030

Trade receivables	 	 168,935	 407,632

Available-for-sale financial assets 	 	 49	 821

Other assets	 	 164,466	 192,109

Tax refund claims	 	 3,951	 10,507

Cash and cash equivalents	 	 91,113	 142,409

	 	 535,251	 1,135,370

Assets held for sale 	 	 546,546	 107,636

Total current assets 	 	 1,081,797	 1,243,006

Total assets	 	 1,397,569	 1,719,040

EUR’000	 	 06/30/2009	 12/31/2008

 Consolidated Balance Sheet at June 30, 2009

Assets
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Equity	 	

Subscribed capital	 	 26,402	 26,402

Additional paid-in capital	 	 73,580	 73,580

Retained earnings	 	 20,290	 20,290

Accumulated other comprehensive income 	 	 30,444	 142,299

	 	 150,716	 262,571

Minority interests	 	 4,773	 1,138

Total equity	 	 155,489	 263,709

Non-current liabilities	 	 	

Pension obligations	 	 33,539	 66,000

Provisions	 	 27,086	 31,317

Financial liabilities	 	 43,627	 75,217

Obligations under finance leases 	 	 4,463	 24,246

Other liabilities	 	 38,169	 65,269

Deferred tax liabilities 	 	 31,187	 54,940

Total non-current liabilities 	 	 178,071	 316,989

Current liabilities 	 	 	

Provisions 	 	 71,027	 67,849

Financial liabilities	 	 106,636	 136,754

Obligations under finance leases 	 	 1,175	 7,137

Trade payables	 	 208,734	 601,356

Tax liabilities	 	 5,816	 15,047

Other liabilities	 	 161,990	 220,054

	 	 555,378	 1,048,197

Liabilities related to assets held for sale 	 	 508,631	 90,145

Total non-current liabilities 	 	 1,064,009	 1,138,342

Total equity and liabilities	 	 1,397,569	 1,719,040

EUR’000	 	 06/30/2009	 12/31/2008

Equity and Liabilities
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	 December 31, 2007	 26,357	 72,473	 20,290	 275,169	 6,712	 401,001

1	 Appropriation to retained earnings 	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0

2	 Changes in minority interests 	 0	 0	 0	 -2,968	 6,285	 3,317

3	 Other changes 	 0	 0	 0	 -412	 -317	 -729

4	 Total transactions with shareholders 	 0	 0	 0	 -3,380	 5,968	 2,588

5	 Consolidated net loss 2008	 0	 0	 0	 -130,080	 0	 -130,080

6	 Minority interests	 0	 0	 0	 0	 -11,542	 -11,542

7	 Consolidated net loss after minority interests 	 0	 0	 0	 -130,080	 -11,542	 -141,622

8	 Stock option program	 0	 0	 0	 1,366	 0	 1,366

9	 Currency translation differences	 0	 0	 0	 -2,183	 0	 -2,183

10	 Available-for-sale securities	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0

11	 Other changes 	 0	 0	 0	 690	 0	 690

12	 Total changes not recognized in the income statement 	 0	 0	 0	 -128	 0	 -128

13	 Total net income (7+12)	 0	 0	 0	 -130,207	 -11,542	 -141,749

14	 Treasury shares	 45	 1,107	 0	 0	 0	 1,152

	 December 31, 2008	 26,402	 73,580	 20,290	 141,582	 1,138	 262,992

	 IFRS 3.61	 	 	 	 717	 	 717

	 December 31, 2008	 26,402	 73,580	 20,290	 142,299	 1,138	 263,709

1	 Appropriation to retained earnings 	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0

2	 Dividend payment 2008	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0

3	 Capital increase	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0

4	 Changes in minority interests 	 0	 0	 0	 0	 5,203	 5,203

5	 Other changes 	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0

6	 Total transactions with shareholders	 0	 0	 0	 0	 5,203	 5,203

7	 Consolidated net loss 2009	 0	 0	 0	 -115,443	 0	 -115,443

8	 Minority interests	 0	 0	 0	 0	 -1,568	 -1,568

9	 Consolidated net loss after minority interests 	 0	 0	 0	 -115,443	 -1,568	 -117,011

10	 Stock option program	 0	 0	 0	 481	 0	 481

11	 Currency translation differences	 0	 0	 0	 3,107	 0	 3,107

12	 Available-for-sale securities	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0

13	 Other changes	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0

14	 Total changes not recognized in the income statement	 0	 0	 0	 3,588	 0	 3,588

15	 Total net income (9+14)	 0	 0	 0	 -111,855	 -1,568	 -113,423

16	 Treasury shares	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0

	 June 30, 2009	 26,402	 73,580	 20,290	 30,444	 4,773	 155,489

	 	 	 Additional	 	 other cumulative 	 	 Consolidated
EUR`000	 Subscribed capital	 paid-in capital	 profit reserves	 shareholders‘ equity	 Minority interests	 equity

Statement of Changes in Consolidated Equity at June 30, 2009
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	 December 31, 2007	 26,357	 72,473	 20,290	 275,169	 6,712	 401,001

1	 Appropriation to retained earnings 	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0

2	 Changes in minority interests 	 0	 0	 0	 -2,968	 6,285	 3,317

3	 Other changes 	 0	 0	 0	 -412	 -317	 -729

4	 Total transactions with shareholders 	 0	 0	 0	 -3,380	 5,968	 2,588

5	 Consolidated net loss 2008	 0	 0	 0	 -130,080	 0	 -130,080

6	 Minority interests	 0	 0	 0	 0	 -11,542	 -11,542

7	 Consolidated net loss after minority interests 	 0	 0	 0	 -130,080	 -11,542	 -141,622

8	 Stock option program	 0	 0	 0	 1,366	 0	 1,366

9	 Currency translation differences	 0	 0	 0	 -2,183	 0	 -2,183

10	 Available-for-sale securities	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0

11	 Other changes 	 0	 0	 0	 690	 0	 690

12	 Total changes not recognized in the income statement 	 0	 0	 0	 -128	 0	 -128

13	 Total net income (7+12)	 0	 0	 0	 -130,207	 -11,542	 -141,749

14	 Treasury shares	 45	 1,107	 0	 0	 0	 1,152

	 December 31, 2008	 26,402	 73,580	 20,290	 141,582	 1,138	 262,992

	 IFRS 3.61	 	 	 	 717	 	 717

	 December 31, 2008	 26,402	 73,580	 20,290	 142,299	 1,138	 263,709

1	 Appropriation to retained earnings 	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0

2	 Dividend payment 2008	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0

3	 Capital increase	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0

4	 Changes in minority interests 	 0	 0	 0	 0	 5,203	 5,203

5	 Other changes 	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0

6	 Total transactions with shareholders	 0	 0	 0	 0	 5,203	 5,203

7	 Consolidated net loss 2009	 0	 0	 0	 -115,443	 0	 -115,443

8	 Minority interests	 0	 0	 0	 0	 -1,568	 -1,568

9	 Consolidated net loss after minority interests 	 0	 0	 0	 -115,443	 -1,568	 -117,011

10	 Stock option program	 0	 0	 0	 481	 0	 481

11	 Currency translation differences	 0	 0	 0	 3,107	 0	 3,107

12	 Available-for-sale securities	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0

13	 Other changes	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0

14	 Total changes not recognized in the income statement	 0	 0	 0	 3,588	 0	 3,588

15	 Total net income (9+14)	 0	 0	 0	 -111,855	 -1,568	 -113,423

16	 Treasury shares	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0

	 June 30, 2009	 26,402	 73,580	 20,290	 30,444	 4,773	 155,489

	 	 	 Additional	 	 other cumulative 	 	 Consolidated
EUR`000	 Subscribed capital	 paid-in capital	 profit reserves	 shareholders‘ equity	 Minority interests	 equity
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Earnings before taxes (EBT)	 -131,868 	 -34,017 

Reversal of negative goodwill 	 -9,731 	 -10,099 

Depreciation and amortization of PP&E and intangible assets 	 46,425 	 39,898 

Impairments	 52,221 	 24,609 

Increase (+)/ decrease (-) in pension provisions 	 2,219 	 -268 

Profit (-)/ loss (+) on the sale of non-current assets 	 -528 	 -3,219 

Profit (-)/ loss (+) from deconsolidations 	 7,074 	 -7,359 

Profit (-)/ loss (+) from currency translation 	 -5,524 	 1,076 

Issuance of stock options	 481 	 503 

Change from measurement at equity 	 -195 	 -597 

Other non-cash income and expenses 	 -13,961 	 -15,792 

Net interest expenses	 17,412 	 15,273 

Interest collected 	 618 	 961 

Interest paid	 -10,315 	 -10,695 

Income taxes paid 	 -8,016 	 -10,509 

Non-recurring cash inflow from commencement of factoring in connection with the financing of acquisitions 	 0	 40,776

Increase (-)/ decrease (+) in inventories	 -10,162 	 -18,786 

Increase (-)/ decrease (+) in trade receivables and other receivables 	 -25,328 	 83,257 

Increase (+)/ decrease (-) in trade payables, other liabilities and other provisions 	 23,539 	 -17,094 

Increase (+)/ decrease (-) in other balance sheet items 	 23,132	 19,917

Cash inflow (+)/ outflow (-) from operating activities (net cash flow)	 -42,509	 97,834 

Cash outflows for the purchase of shares in companies 	 -563 	 -10,670 

Cash acquired in connection with purchased shares in companies 	 1,512 	 949 

Cash inflows from the sale of shares in companies 	 15,157 	 22,423 

Cash transferred in connection with the sale of shares in companies 	 -27,104 	 -849 

Cash inflows from the sale of non-current assets 	 1,987 	 580 

Cash outflows for investments in non-current assets 	 -14,527 	 -30,441 

Cash inflow (+)/ outflow (-) from investing activities 	 -23,538 	 -18,008 

Free cash flow	 -66,047 	 79,826 

Cash flows from the borrowing (+)/ repayment (-) of non-current financial liabilities 	 -27 	 -75,357

Cash flows from the borrowing (+)/ repayment (-) of non-current financial liabilities 	 13,023 	 -4,038

Cash outflows in connection with liabilities under finance leases 	 -2,611 	 -2,005

Purchases of treasury shares 	 0	 -506

Dividend payment	 0	 -515

Cash inflow (+)/ outflow (-) from financing activities 	 10,385 	 -82,421 

Net funds at beginning of period 	 125,741 	 69,865

Increase (-)/ decrease (+) in restricted cash 	 16,734 	 -15,839

Change in net funds 	 -55,662 	 -2,595

Net funds at end of period 	 86,813	 51,431

Restricted cash 	 16,777	 30,514

Cash and cash equivalents 	 103,590	 81,945

Cash presented within the balance sheet item “Assets held for sale”  	 12,477 	 0

Balance sheet	 91,113	 81,945

EUR’000	 01/01/2009 - 06/30/2009	 01/01/2008 - 06/30/2008

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for the Period from January 1 to June 30, 2009
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Earnings before taxes (EBT)	 -131,868 	 -34,017 

Reversal of negative goodwill 	 -9,731 	 -10,099 

Depreciation and amortization of PP&E and intangible assets 	 46,425 	 39,898 

Impairments	 52,221 	 24,609 

Increase (+)/ decrease (-) in pension provisions 	 2,219 	 -268 

Profit (-)/ loss (+) on the sale of non-current assets 	 -528 	 -3,219 

Profit (-)/ loss (+) from deconsolidations 	 7,074 	 -7,359 

Profit (-)/ loss (+) from currency translation 	 -5,524 	 1,076 

Issuance of stock options	 481 	 503 

Change from measurement at equity 	 -195 	 -597 

Other non-cash income and expenses 	 -13,961 	 -15,792 

Net interest expenses	 17,412 	 15,273 

Interest collected 	 618 	 961 

Interest paid	 -10,315 	 -10,695 

Income taxes paid 	 -8,016 	 -10,509 

Non-recurring cash inflow from commencement of factoring in connection with the financing of acquisitions 	 0	 40,776

Increase (-)/ decrease (+) in inventories	 -10,162 	 -18,786 

Increase (-)/ decrease (+) in trade receivables and other receivables 	 -25,328 	 83,257 

Increase (+)/ decrease (-) in trade payables, other liabilities and other provisions 	 23,539 	 -17,094 

Increase (+)/ decrease (-) in other balance sheet items 	 23,132	 19,917

Cash inflow (+)/ outflow (-) from operating activities (net cash flow)	 -42,509	 97,834 

Cash outflows for the purchase of shares in companies 	 -563 	 -10,670 

Cash acquired in connection with purchased shares in companies 	 1,512 	 949 

Cash inflows from the sale of shares in companies 	 15,157 	 22,423 

Cash transferred in connection with the sale of shares in companies 	 -27,104 	 -849 

Cash inflows from the sale of non-current assets 	 1,987 	 580 

Cash outflows for investments in non-current assets 	 -14,527 	 -30,441 

Cash inflow (+)/ outflow (-) from investing activities 	 -23,538 	 -18,008 

Free cash flow	 -66,047 	 79,826 

Cash flows from the borrowing (+)/ repayment (-) of non-current financial liabilities 	 -27 	 -75,357

Cash flows from the borrowing (+)/ repayment (-) of non-current financial liabilities 	 13,023 	 -4,038

Cash outflows in connection with liabilities under finance leases 	 -2,611 	 -2,005

Purchases of treasury shares 	 0	 -506

Dividend payment	 0	 -515

Cash inflow (+)/ outflow (-) from financing activities 	 10,385 	 -82,421 

Net funds at beginning of period 	 125,741 	 69,865

Increase (-)/ decrease (+) in restricted cash 	 16,734 	 -15,839

Change in net funds 	 -55,662 	 -2,595

Net funds at end of period 	 86,813	 51,431

Restricted cash 	 16,777	 30,514

Cash and cash equivalents 	 103,590	 81,945

Cash presented within the balance sheet item “Assets held for sale”  	 12,477 	 0

Balance sheet	 91,113	 81,945

EUR’000	 01/01/2009 - 06/30/2009	 01/01/2008 - 06/30/2008

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for the Period from January 1 to June 30, 2009
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Notes to the consolidated financial 
statements at June 30, 2009
General information on accounting and valuation methods

The consolidated financial statements of ARQUES Industries AG at June 30, 2009 and the prior-year comparison figures were prepared 

in accordance with the International Accounting Standards (IAS) and the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopted 

and published by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and in accordance with the interpretations of those standards by 

the Standard Interpretations Committee (SIC) and the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC), as they are 

to be applied in the European Union, and in accordance with the IFRS in their entirety. Accordingly, the present unaudited interim report 

at June 30, 2009, which was not subjected to an auditor’s review, was drawn up in accordance with IAS 34. All standards that were in 

effect and obligatory as of June 30, 2009 were observed, leading to the presentation of a true and fair view of the assets, financial posi-

tion and earnings of the ARQUES Group.

The notes to the consolidated financial statements for 2008 apply accordingly to the present interim report, especially with regard to the 

significant accounting and valuation methods employed.

In addition, the following revised or newly issued Standards and Interpretations of the IASB were to be applied as of fiscal year 2009:

•	 IFRS 8 (Operating Segments)

•	 Changes to IAS 1 (Presentation of Financial Statements)

•	 Changes to IFRS 2 (Share-based Payment)

•	 Changes to IAS 32 (Financial Instruments: Presentation) and subsequent change to IAS 1 (Presentation of Financial Statements)

•	 Changes to IFRS 1 (First-time Application of IFRS) and IAS 27 (Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements)

•	 Changes to IAS 23 (Borrowing Costs)

•	 IFRIC 13 (Customer Loyalty Programs)

•	 Other changes in connection with the Annual Improvement Project 

IFRS 8 supersedes the former segment reporting rules of IAS 14. The main change relates to the structure of the segment report, which 

must now follow the reporting structure used internally by the enterprise. Additional information on geographical regions and key cus-

tomers is required only in the annual report at the close of a fiscal year.

The changes to IAS 1 pertain to the presentation of the assets, financial position and operating results in IFRS financial statements. 

According to the new version of this standard, the financial statements must also include a consolidated statement of comprehensive 

income, which shows both the consolidated profit or loss and the other income or expenses recognized directly in equity. 

The changes to IFRS 2 pertain to the definition of exercise conditions and the treatment of cancellations.

The changes to IAS 32 and IAS 1 pertain to callable financial instruments and the obligations arising on liquidation. 

The changes to IFRS 1 and IAS 27 pertain to the determination of the acquisition cost of equity investments, joint ventures and associa-

tion companies.

The changes to IAS 23 removed the option of not capitalizing borrowing costs.

The obligatory application of the foregoing Standards and Interpretations has not given rise to any material effects on the assets, finan-

cial position and earnings of the ARQUES Group.

For details on the economic or seasonal factors affecting the portfolio companies, please refer to the comments in the section “Notes 

on the subsidiaries.”
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Non-current disposal groups held for 
sale and discontinued operations  

In accordance with IFRS 5, non-current assets and liabilities are presented separately as “held for sale” in the balance sheet if they can 

be sold in their current condition and if the sale is highly probable. Assets classified as “held for sale” are measured at fair value less the 

costs to sell, if that is lower than the carrying amounts of the assets. In accordance with this classification, liabilities that are directly linked 

to held-for-sale assets are presented separately as liabilities “held for sale” in the balance sheet. Additional disclosures are provided for 

discontinued operations.

ARQUES divested its entire IT Segment in the period from July to September 2009. The IT activities comprised the business of the Actebis 

Group, which was sold on August 5, and that of the tiscon Group, which was sold on July 20, 2009. The Actebis transaction is pending, 

subject to the approval of the cartel authorities. The closing is expected to occur in September. 

In the balance sheet at June 30, 2009, the assets and liabilities of the formerly operational IT Segment were presented as “held for sale” 

and measured at the lower of their carrying amount or their fair value less costs to sell. 

In the income statement, the results of the formerly operational IT Segment were presented as discontinued operations in all periods 

presented. 

The cash flows attributable to the discontinued operations are presented in the table below:

Adjustment of the comparison information presented in the 
consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2008
Effective January 1, 2009, certain balance sheet items were adjusted in accordance with IFRS 3.61 ff because the purchase price alloca-

tion conducted for the subsidiary Auto Windscreens Ltd. at December 31, 2008 was only preliminary in the sense of IFRS 3.61 ff.

Due to the time-intensive and complex requirements to be met by a purchase price allocation and the required review by the auditor of 

the financial statements, preliminary purchase price allocations of the kind prescribed in IFRS 3.61 ff. are inherent in the nature of the 

ARQUES business model. Depending on the complexity of the acquisition, this process can take several months. However, IFRS 3.61 

ff. prescribes that the corresponding information be presented as soon as reliable preliminary figures are available, as opposed to when 

the purchase price allocation is finally completed. With reference to the qualitative requirements for the information to be presented in 

financial statements according to the IFRS Framework, it is preferable to provide prompt information to the users of financial statements, 

as opposed to exact, but delayed information.

The adjustments made in the case of Auto Windscreens Ltd. pertain to the measured value of the shareholder loans purchased from 

the former owner. The assumptions applied with respect to the acquisition at December 31, 2008 were too negative. If the valuation at 

December 31, 2008 had been conducted on the basis of the information available at the present time, the negative goodwill would have 

been EUR 717 thousand higher. In accordance with IFRS 3.61 ff., such adjustments were recognized not in profit or loss, but in equity, 

leading to an increase in the Group’s equity as of January 1, 2009.

The effects of these adjustments on the individual balance sheet items are presented in the following table:

EUR’000	 01/01 – 06/30/2009	 01/01 – 06/30/2008

Cash inflow (+)/ outflow (-) from operating activities 	 5,645	 76,401

Cash inflow (+)/ outflow (-) from investing activities 	 -1,504	 -1,657

Cash inflow (+)/ outflow (-) from financing activities 	 -4,337	 -80,128

Change in cash and cash equivalents 	 -196	 -5,384



44

ASSETS	 	 Adjustment  	 12/31/2008	
EUR’000	 12/31/2008	 per IFRS 3.61	 adjusted

Equity	 	 	

Subscribed capital	 26,402		  26,402

Additional paid-in capital	 73,580		  73,580

Retained earnings	 20,290		  20,290

Accumulated other comprehensive income 	 141,582	 717	 142,299

	 261,854	 717	 262,571

Minority interests	 1,138		  1,138

Total equity	 262,992	 717	 263,709

Non-current liabilities	 	 	

Pension obligations	 66,000		  66,000

Provisions	 31,317		  31,317

Financial liabilities	 75,217		  75,217

Obligations under finance leases 	 24,246		  24,246

Other liabilities 	 65,269		  65,269

Deferred tax liabilities 	 54,909	 31	 54,940

Total non-current liabilities	 316,958	 31	 316,989

Current liabilities	 	 	

Provisions	 67,849		  67,849

Financial liabilities	 136,754		  136,754

Obligations under finance leases 	 7,137		  7,137

Trade payables	 601,356		  601,356

Tax liabilities	 15,047		  15,047

Other liabilities	 220,802	 -748	 220,054

	 1,048,945	 -748	 1,048,197
Liabilities related to 
assets held for sale	 90,145		  90,145

Total current liabilities 	 1,139,090	 -748	 1,138,342

Total equity and liabilities	 1,719,040	 0	 1,719,040

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Non-current assets	 	 	

Intangible assets	 133,629		  133,629

Property, plant and equipment	 317,028		  317,028

Investment property	 238		  238

Non-current financial assets accounted for by the equity method	 5,000		  5,000

Financial assets	 3,190		  3,190

Other non-current assets	 85		  85

Deferred tax assets	 16,864		  16,864

Total non-current assets	 476,034	 0	 476,034

Current assets	 	 	

Inventories	 378,862		  378,862

Receivables from percentage of completion 	 3,030		  3,030

Trade receivables 	 407,632		  407,632

Financial assets held for sale 	 821		  821

Other assets	 192,109		  192,109

Tax refund claims	 10,507		  10,507

Cash and cash equivalents	 142,409		  142,409

	 1,135,370	 0	 1,135,370

Assets held for sale	 107,636		  107,636

Total current assets	 1,243,006	 0	 1,243,006

Total assets	 1,719,040	 0	 1,719,040
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Changes in the consolidation group 

Notes on company acquisitions

Company acquisitions from January 1 to June 30, 2009
ARQUES acquired the leading British driving school, The British School of Motoring Ltd. (BSM), Bristol, and its wholly-owned subsidiar-

ies BSM Ltd. and Scorpio Property Investments Ltd. (BSM Group) for a symbolic purchase price in February 2009. The seller was the 

British company RAC plc, a subsidiary of the insurance group AVIVA plc. The closing date, when control over the company passed to 

ARQUES, was February 10, 2009. Therefore, the BSM Group has been included in the consolidated financial statements of ARQUES 

Industries AG as of February 10, 2009.

The BSM Group was included in the consolidated financial statements on a preliminary basis. Because converting the company’s ac-

counting system to IFRS and the conduct of the purchase price allocation process are time-consuming, the best available information 

was used at the time of preparing the present financial statements.

The purchase price for the BSM Group was EUR 2. In addition, ARQUES incurred incidental expenses of EUR 264 thousand, which 

had been completely paid in cash at the balance sheet date. A shareholder loan in the amount of EUR 4,820 thousand was acquired 

in connection with this acquisition. The acquisition of BSM gave rise to negative goodwill in the amount of EUR 9,731 thousand, after 

deduction of minority interests.

In the time from the acquisition date to June 30, 2009, the BSM Group incurred a net loss of EUR 235 thousand. This figure already in-

cludes start-up and acquisition losses, as well as restructuring losses. It does not include the other operating income from the reversal of 

negative goodwill. In the time from January 1, 2009 to the acquisition date, the BSM Group generated revenues of EUR 4,543 thousand. 

The total revenues for the first half of 2009 amounted to EUR 18,627 thousand. The earnings contribution for the period from January 1, 

2009 to the acquisition date was not determined because the corresponding earnings were not relevant for consolidation purposes. A 

retroactive conversion to January 1, 2009 was not effected because the figures calculated for the months prior to the restructuring would 

not be comparable with those for the months following the restructuring, due to the restructuring measures initiated in the meantime, 

and so would have produced distorted results.

The acquired assets and liabilities of the BSM Group are presented in the table below:

EUR’000	 Carrying amounts 	 Fair values

Non-current assets	 	

Buildings	 1,756	 1,756

Other assets	 2,081	 2,081

Deferred tax assets	 1,502	 1,502

Current assets	 	  

Inventories	 148	 148

Trade receivables	 377	 377

Other assets	 30,390	 30,390

Cash and cash equivalents	 1,512	 1,512

Liabilities	 	  

Provisions	 -4,379	 -4,379

Trade payables	 -5,673	 -5,673

Other liabilities	 -13,218	 -13,218

Deferred tax liabilities	 -8,848	 -9,049

Net assets	  	 5,447
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The cash acquired amounted to EUR 1,512 thousand, which resulted in a total cash outflow of EUR 1,248 thousand. 

No business units were sold or discontinued in connection with this acquisition.

The disclosures prescribed by IFRS 3.70 are impracticable in this case. As a result of the initiated restructuring measures, the company 

believes that the calculated values would lead to distorted results.

In March 2009, moreover, the Actebis Group signed an agreement to purchase the broadline distribution business of Ingram Micro in 

Denmark. The closing for this transaction took place on July 3, 2009, after the Danish regulatory authorities approved the acquisition. 

The employees and the entire customer base of the Danish Ingram Micro branch were taken over. 

The acquisition of new shelf companies is not disclosed separately because they are of subordinate importance.

Notes on company sales 
Due to the difficult state of the economy in Spain, as well as the crisis affecting the automobile industry and the restrictive lending 

policies of Spanish banks, ARQUES decided not to provide any further liquidity assistance to the Capresa Group (part of the Steel 

segment). Therefore, the automotive supplier was compelled to file for bankruptcy on January 19, 2009. The assets required in con-

nection with the necessary deconsolidation of the Capresa Group amounted to EUR 12.5 million, including cash and cash equivalents 

of EUR 0.3 million, and the corresponding liabilities amounted to EUR 18.1 million. Including consolidation effects, the deconsolidation 

loss amounted to EUR 0.1 million. This amount was presented as other operating expenses.

On January 22, 2009, ARQUES sold four subsidiaries – the BEA Group (part of the Service segment), the news agency ddp (part 

of the Service segment), the Italian adhesive tape manufacturer Evotape (part of the Service segment) and the Swiss chemicals 

company Rohner (part of the Specialty Chemistry segment) – for EUR 20.0 million to the private equity firm BluO as part of a portfolio 

transaction.

•	 The sold assets of the BEA Group amounted to EUR 30.6 million, including cash and cash equivalents of EUR 9.9 million, and the 

liabilities amounted to EUR 28.4 million. Including consolidation effects and other expenses associated with the transaction, the 

deconsolidation profit amounted to EUR 2.4 million. This amount was presented as other operating income.

•	 The sold assets of the Austrian BEA companies amounted to EUR 18.1 million, including cash and cash equivalents of EUR 2.0 

million, and the liabilities amounted to EUR 17.2 million. Including consolidation effects and other expenses associated with the 

transaction, the deconsolidation profit amounted to EUR 0.2 million. This amount was presented as other operating income.

•	 The sold assets of Evotape amounted to EUR 35.4 million, including cash and cash equivalents of EUR 0.3 million, and the liabilities 

amounted to EUR 35.1 million. Including consolidation effects and other expenses associated with the transaction, the deconsolida-

tion loss amounted to EUR 0.6 million. This amount was presented as other operating expenses.

•	 The sold assets of the ddp Group amounted to EUR 17.6 million, including cash and cash equivalents of EUR 0.4 million, and the 

liabilities amounted to EUR 15.2 million. Including consolidation effects and other expenses associated with the transaction, the 

deconsolidation loss amounted to EUR 0.2 million. This amount was presented as other operating expenses.

•	 The sold assets of Rohner AG amounted to EUR 20.7 million, including cash and cash equivalents of EUR 4.5 million, and the li-

abilities amounted to EUR 11.6 million. Including consolidation effects and other expenses associated with the transaction, the 

deconsolidation loss amounted to EUR 3.6 million. This amount was presented as other operating expenses.
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Effective March 2, 2009, ARQUES sold the Rohé Group, Vienna (part of the Service segment), to the private equity firm ValueNet Capital 

Partners, Munich, for a symbolic price. The sold assets amounted to EUR 49.5 million, including cash and cash equivalents of EUR 4.7 

million, and the liabilities amounted to EUR 57.0 million. Including consolidation effects and other expenses associated with the transac-

tion, the deconsolidation profit amounted to EUR 0.2 million. This amount was presented as other operating income.

Effective March 12, 2009, the Sommer Group (part of the Automotive segment) was sold to a consortium of strategic partners com-

posed of medium-sized German automotive companies and a financial investor, BSF Consulting AG. The sold assets amounted to EUR 

19.0 million, including cash and cash equivalents of EUR 0.9 million, and the liabilities amounted to EUR 14.6 million. Including consoli-

dation effects and other expenses associated with the transaction, the deconsolidation loss amounted to EUR 4.9 million. This amount 

was presented as other operating expenses.

Effective March 19, 2009, the Swiss printing company weberbenteli (part of the Print segment) was sold to the financial investor Valu-

eNet Capital Partners, Munich, for a symbolic price. The sold assets amounted to EUR 47.3 million, including cash and cash equivalents 

of EUR 2.6 million, and the liabilities amounted to EUR 59.3 million. Including consolidation effects and other expenses associated with 

the transaction, the deconsolidation profit amounted to EUR 1.3 million. This amount was presented as other operating income.

In July 2009, ARQUES Iberia and the companies Arques Iberia S.A., Iversia Invest S.L., Vastec Corporate S.L., Sodelica Markets S.L., 

Desarollos Enterprise Line S.L., Oxiris Intellectual Property LTD, Oxiris LTD and Oxiris Property LTD were sold for symbolic price to TALIA 

S.L., Madrid. The sold assets amounted to EUR 2.0 million, including cash and cash equivalents of EUR 1.3 million, and the liabilities 

amounted to EUR 3.0 million. Including consolidation effects and other expenses associated with the transaction, the deconsolidation 

loss amounted to EUR 2.0 million. This amount was presented as other operating expenses.

Also in July 2009, the non-operating Swiss companies Yenen AG and ARQUES Corporate Revitalization AG were sold for symbolic 

purchase prices. Including consolidation effects and other expenses associated with the transaction, the deconsolidation loss amounted 

to EUR 0.4 million. This amount was presented as other operating expenses.

The sold assets and transferred liabilities are presented on an aggregate basis in the table below:

	 	 EUR’000

Assets	 	

Intangible assets		  9,645

Property, plant and equipment		  57,953

Other assets		  185,276

Total	 	 252,874

Liabilities	 	

Provisions		  22,225

Liabilities		  238,198

Total	 	 260,423
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Segment report
The first-time application of IFRS 8 Segment Reporting, application of which is obligatory as of 2009, did not lead to a change in 

segmentation compared to the annual financial statements for 2008. The information presented herein was adjusted to meet the 

requirements of IFRS 8:

Revenues	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

External revenues	 17,390	 29,302	 29,189	 1,748,730	 101,311	 49,523	 25,725	 262,988	 4	 97,025	 0	 2,361,187

	 Continuing operations	 17,390	 29,302	 29,189	 0	 101,311	 49,523	 25,725	 262,988	 4	 97,025		  612,457

	 Discontinued operations	 0	 0	 0	 1,748,730	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 	 1,748,730

Internal revenues	 0	 0	 0	 17	 0	 0	 0	 8,110	 3,989	 0	 -12,116	 0

	 Continuing operations	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 8,110	 3,989	 0	 -12,099	 0

	 Discontinued operations	 0	 0	 0	 17	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 -17	 0

Total revenues 	 17,390	 29,302	 29,189	 1,748,747	 101,311	 49,523	 25,725	 271,098	 3,993	 97,025	 -12,116	 2,361,187

	 Continuing operations	 17,390	 29,302	 29,189	 0	 101,311	 49,523	 25,725	 271,098	 3,993	 97,025	 -12,099	 612,457

	 Discontinued operations	 0	 0	 0	 1,748,747	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 -17	 1,748,730

Segment earnings/EBITDA	 -1,243	 2,108	 880	 26,952	 -2,839	 -2,292	 -7,388	 -29,185	 -11,520	 8,522	 0	 -16,005

	 Continuing operations	 -1,243	 2,108	 880	 0	 -2,839	 -2,292	 -7,388	 -29,185	 -11,520	 8,522	 0	 -42,957

	 Discontinued operations	 0	 0	 0	 26,952	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 26,952

Depreciation and amortization 	 -1,565	 -2,648	 -1,940	 -9,727	 -5,139	 -771	 -855	 -21,968	 -90	 -1,722	 0	 -46,425

	 Continuing operations	 -1,565	 -2,648	 -1,940	 0	 -5,139	 -771	 -855	 -21,968	 -90	 -1,722	 0	 -36,698

	 Discontinued operations	 0	 0	 0	 -9,727	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 -9,727

Impairments	 0	 0	 0	 -38,137	 -782	 0	 0	 -11,991	 -1,311	 0	 0	 -52,221

	 Continuing operations	 0	 0	 0	 0	 -782	 0	 0	 -11,991	 -1,311	 0	 0	 -14,084

	 Discontinued operations	 0	 0	 0	 -38,137	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 -38,137

Segment earnings/EBIT	 -2,809	 -540	 -1,059	 -20,912	 -8,761	 -3,063	 -8,243	 -63,143	 -12,921	 6,800	 0	 -114,651

	 Continuing operations	 -2,809	 -540	 -1,059	 0	 -8,761	 -3,063	 -8,243	 -63,143	 -12,921	 6,800	 0	 -93,739

	 Discontinued operations	 0	 0	 0	 -20,912	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 -20,912

Income from non-current financial assets 	  
accounted for by the equity method										          195

Net interest income/ expenses												            -17,412

Earnings before taxes	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 -131,868

Income tax expenses												            14,857

Net loss	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 -117,011

EUR’000	 	 	 Industrial	 	 	 	 Specialty	 communi-	 	 	 ELIMI-	 Consoli-	
first half 2009 	 Steel	 Print	 Production 	 IT	 Automotive	 Retail	 Chemistry	 cations 	 Holding	 Service	 nations	 dated
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Revenues	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

External revenues	 17,390	 29,302	 29,189	 1,748,730	 101,311	 49,523	 25,725	 262,988	 4	 97,025	 0	 2,361,187

	 Continuing operations	 17,390	 29,302	 29,189	 0	 101,311	 49,523	 25,725	 262,988	 4	 97,025		  612,457

	 Discontinued operations	 0	 0	 0	 1,748,730	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 	 1,748,730

Internal revenues	 0	 0	 0	 17	 0	 0	 0	 8,110	 3,989	 0	 -12,116	 0

	 Continuing operations	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 8,110	 3,989	 0	 -12,099	 0

	 Discontinued operations	 0	 0	 0	 17	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 -17	 0

Total revenues 	 17,390	 29,302	 29,189	 1,748,747	 101,311	 49,523	 25,725	 271,098	 3,993	 97,025	 -12,116	 2,361,187

	 Continuing operations	 17,390	 29,302	 29,189	 0	 101,311	 49,523	 25,725	 271,098	 3,993	 97,025	 -12,099	 612,457

	 Discontinued operations	 0	 0	 0	 1,748,747	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 -17	 1,748,730

Segment earnings/EBITDA	 -1,243	 2,108	 880	 26,952	 -2,839	 -2,292	 -7,388	 -29,185	 -11,520	 8,522	 0	 -16,005

	 Continuing operations	 -1,243	 2,108	 880	 0	 -2,839	 -2,292	 -7,388	 -29,185	 -11,520	 8,522	 0	 -42,957

	 Discontinued operations	 0	 0	 0	 26,952	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 26,952

Depreciation and amortization 	 -1,565	 -2,648	 -1,940	 -9,727	 -5,139	 -771	 -855	 -21,968	 -90	 -1,722	 0	 -46,425

	 Continuing operations	 -1,565	 -2,648	 -1,940	 0	 -5,139	 -771	 -855	 -21,968	 -90	 -1,722	 0	 -36,698

	 Discontinued operations	 0	 0	 0	 -9,727	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 -9,727

Impairments	 0	 0	 0	 -38,137	 -782	 0	 0	 -11,991	 -1,311	 0	 0	 -52,221

	 Continuing operations	 0	 0	 0	 0	 -782	 0	 0	 -11,991	 -1,311	 0	 0	 -14,084

	 Discontinued operations	 0	 0	 0	 -38,137	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 -38,137

Segment earnings/EBIT	 -2,809	 -540	 -1,059	 -20,912	 -8,761	 -3,063	 -8,243	 -63,143	 -12,921	 6,800	 0	 -114,651

	 Continuing operations	 -2,809	 -540	 -1,059	 0	 -8,761	 -3,063	 -8,243	 -63,143	 -12,921	 6,800	 0	 -93,739

	 Discontinued operations	 0	 0	 0	 -20,912	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 -20,912

Income from non-current financial assets 	  
accounted for by the equity method										          195

Net interest income/ expenses												            -17,412

Earnings before taxes	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 -131,868

Income tax expenses												            14,857

Net loss	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 -117,011

EUR’000	 	 	 Industrial	 	 	 	 Specialty	 communi-	 	 	 ELIMI-	 Consoli-	
first half 2009 	 Steel	 Print	 Production 	 IT	 Automotive	 Retail	 Chemistry	 cations 	 Holding	 Service	 nations	 dated
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Revenues	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

External revenues	 47,311	 34,903	 70,291	 1,891,166	 307,537	 69,247	 105,217	 0	 22	 102,093	 0	 2,627,787

	 Continuing operations	 47,311	 34,903	 70,291	 0	 307,537	 69,247	 105,217	 0	 22	 102,093	 0	 736,621

	 Discontinued operations	 0	 0	 0	 1,891,166	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 1,891,166

Internal revenues	 0	 0	 0	 14	 0	 0	 0	 0	 607	 26	 -647	 0

	 Continuing operations	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 607	 26	 -633	 0

	 Discontinued operations	 0	 0	 0	 14	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 -14	 0

Total revenues 	 47,311	 34,903	 70,291	 1,891,180	 307,537	 69,247	 105,217	 0	 629	 102,119	 -647	 2,627,787

	 Continuing operations	 47,311	 34,903	 70,291	 0	 307,537	 69,247	 105,217	 0	 629	 102,119	 -633	 736,621

	 Discontinued operations	 0	 0	 0	 1,891,180	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 -14	 1,891,166

Segment earnings/EBITDA	 3,288	 -335	 343	 17,939	 11,619	 -84	 -866	 0	 10,431	 2,831	 0	 45,166

	 Continuing operations	 3,288	 -335	 343	 0	 11,619	 -84	 -866	 0	 10,431	 2,831	 0	 27,227

	 Discontinued operations	 0	 0	 0	 17,939	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 17,939

Depreciation and amortization 	 -1,614	 -3,962	 -2,989	 -9,321	 -15,462	 -1,568	 -1,908	 0	 -73	 -3,001	 0	 -39,898

	 Continuing operations	 -1,614	 -3,962	 -2,989	 0	 -15,462	 -1,568	 -1,908	 0	 -73	 -3,001	 0	 -30,577

	 Discontinued operations	 0	 0	 0	 -9,321	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 -9,321

Impairments	 0	 0	 0	 0	 -125	 -24,479	 -5	 0	 0	 0	 0	 -24,609

	 Continuing operations	 0	 0	 0	 0	 -125	 -24,479	 -5	 0	 0	 0	 0	 -24,609

	 Discontinued operations	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0

Segment earnings/EBIT	 1,674	 -4,297	 -2,646	 8,618	 -3,969	 -26,131	 -2,779	 0	 10,358	 -170	 0	 -19,341

	 Continuing operations	 1,674	 -4,297	 -2,646	 0	 -3,969	 -26,131	 -2,779	 0	 10,358	 -170	 0	 -27,959

	 Discontinued operations	 0	 0	 0	 8,618	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 8,618

Income from non-current financial assets	  
accounted for by the equity method										          597

Net interest income/ expenses												            -15,273

Earnings before taxes	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 -34,017

Income tax expenses												            -4,113

Net loss	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 -38,130

EUR’000	 	 	 Industrial	 	 	 	 Specialty	 communi-	 	 	 ELIMI-	 Consoli-	
first half 2008 	 Steel	 Print	 Production 	 IT	 Automotive	 Retail	 Chemistry	 cations 	 Holding	 Service	 nations	 dated
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Revenues	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

External revenues	 47,311	 34,903	 70,291	 1,891,166	 307,537	 69,247	 105,217	 0	 22	 102,093	 0	 2,627,787

	 Continuing operations	 47,311	 34,903	 70,291	 0	 307,537	 69,247	 105,217	 0	 22	 102,093	 0	 736,621

	 Discontinued operations	 0	 0	 0	 1,891,166	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 1,891,166

Internal revenues	 0	 0	 0	 14	 0	 0	 0	 0	 607	 26	 -647	 0

	 Continuing operations	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 607	 26	 -633	 0

	 Discontinued operations	 0	 0	 0	 14	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 -14	 0

Total revenues 	 47,311	 34,903	 70,291	 1,891,180	 307,537	 69,247	 105,217	 0	 629	 102,119	 -647	 2,627,787

	 Continuing operations	 47,311	 34,903	 70,291	 0	 307,537	 69,247	 105,217	 0	 629	 102,119	 -633	 736,621

	 Discontinued operations	 0	 0	 0	 1,891,180	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 -14	 1,891,166

Segment earnings/EBITDA	 3,288	 -335	 343	 17,939	 11,619	 -84	 -866	 0	 10,431	 2,831	 0	 45,166

	 Continuing operations	 3,288	 -335	 343	 0	 11,619	 -84	 -866	 0	 10,431	 2,831	 0	 27,227

	 Discontinued operations	 0	 0	 0	 17,939	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 17,939

Depreciation and amortization 	 -1,614	 -3,962	 -2,989	 -9,321	 -15,462	 -1,568	 -1,908	 0	 -73	 -3,001	 0	 -39,898

	 Continuing operations	 -1,614	 -3,962	 -2,989	 0	 -15,462	 -1,568	 -1,908	 0	 -73	 -3,001	 0	 -30,577

	 Discontinued operations	 0	 0	 0	 -9,321	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 -9,321

Impairments	 0	 0	 0	 0	 -125	 -24,479	 -5	 0	 0	 0	 0	 -24,609

	 Continuing operations	 0	 0	 0	 0	 -125	 -24,479	 -5	 0	 0	 0	 0	 -24,609

	 Discontinued operations	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0

Segment earnings/EBIT	 1,674	 -4,297	 -2,646	 8,618	 -3,969	 -26,131	 -2,779	 0	 10,358	 -170	 0	 -19,341

	 Continuing operations	 1,674	 -4,297	 -2,646	 0	 -3,969	 -26,131	 -2,779	 0	 10,358	 -170	 0	 -27,959

	 Discontinued operations	 0	 0	 0	 8,618	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 8,618

Income from non-current financial assets	  
accounted for by the equity method										          597

Net interest income/ expenses												            -15,273

Earnings before taxes	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 -34,017

Income tax expenses												            -4,113

Net loss	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 -38,130

EUR’000	 	 	 Industrial	 	 	 	 Specialty	 communi-	 	 	 ELIMI-	 Consoli-	
first half 2008 	 Steel	 Print	 Production 	 IT	 Automotive	 Retail	 Chemistry	 cations 	 Holding	 Service	 nations	 dated

Significant events after the balance sheet date 

Events after the balance sheet that could have a significant influence on the company’s development are described in the Management 

Report in the section entitled “Events after the balance sheet date” and in the notes to the financial statements in the section entitled 

“Changes to the consolidation group.” Beyond the events described therein, no further significant events after the balance sheet date 

are known. 

Responsibility statement

“To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the required accounting principles, the consolidated financial statements provide 

a true and fair view of the assets, financial position and earnings of the Group, and the consolidated management report provides a 

true and fair view of the Group’s performance and situation, along with a fair description of the principal opportunities and risks of the 

Group’s future development.”

Starnberg, August 2009

ARQUES Industries AG

The Executive Board
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